
 

 
 

Form 8-K/A 
 

HEWLETT PACKARD CO - HPQ 
 
Filed: November 12, 2008 (period: August 26, 2008) 

 
Amendment to a previously filed 8-K 

 



 

Table of Contents 
 
 

8-K/A - 8-K/A 
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits. 
SIGNATURE 
EXHIBIT INDEX 

 

EX-23.1 (EX-23.1) 
 

EX-99.1 (EX-99.1) 
 

EX-99.2 (EX-99.2) 
 

EX-99.3 (EX-99.3) 



 
  

  

UNITED STATES 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 

  

FORM 8-K/A  
  

CURRENT REPORT 
  

PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF 

 THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
  

August 26, 2008 

Date of Report (Date of Earliest Event Reported) 

  

HEWLETT -PACKARD COMPANY  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

  

DELAWARE  
  

1-4423 
  

94-1081436 

(State or other jurisdiction 

 of incorporation) 
  

(Commission File Number) 

  

(I.R.S. Employer 

 Identification No.) 

          

3000 HANOVER STREET, PALO ALTO, CA  
  

94304 

(Address of principal executive offices) 
  

(Zip code) 

          

(650) 857-1501 

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code) 

  

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant 

under any of the following provisions: 

  

Ä Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

  

Ä Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

  

Ä Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) 

  

Ä Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) 

  
  

  
 
 

 



 

 

  

On August 26, 2008, Hewlett-Packard Company, a Delaware corporation (“HP”), filed a Form 8-K to report that, pursuant to 

the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 13, 2008, among HP, Hawk Merger Corporation, a Delaware 

corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of HP (“MergerCo”), and Electronic Data Systems Corporation, a Delaware corporation 

(“EDS”), as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of July 25, 2008, MergerCo was merged with and into EDS (the 

“Merger”) with EDS continuing as the surviving corporation and becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of HP.  The Merger closed and 

became effective on August 26, 2008.  This Form 8-K/A is being filed to provide the financial statements described under Item 9.01 

below. 

  

Item 9.01.  Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

  

(a)           Financial Statements of Business Acquired. 

  

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of EDS as of June 30, 2008 and for the three-month and six-month 

periods ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 previously filed by EDS on Form 10-Q with the SEC on August 1, 2008 are filed as 

Exhibit 99.1 hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The audited consolidated financial statements of EDS as of 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 previously filed by EDS on 

Form 10-K with the SEC on February 27, 2008 are filed as Exhibit 99.2 hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

  

(b)           Pro Forma Financial Information. 

  

The required pro forma financial information with respect to the Merger is filed as Exhibit 99.3 hereto and incorporated herein 

by this reference. 

  

(d)           Exhibits. 

  
Exhibit  No. 

  

Description 

23.1 
  

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

99.1 

  

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of EDS as of June 30, 2008 and for the three-month and 

six-month periods ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 

99.2 

  

Audited consolidated financial statements of EDS as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for each of the three years 

in the period ended December 31, 2007 

99.3 
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements 

  

Forward-looking statements 

  

This Current Report on Form 8-K/A together with the exhibits attached hereto contain forward-looking statements that involve 

risks, uncertainties and assumptions.  If such risks or uncertainties materialize or such assumptions prove incorrect, the results of HP 

and its consolidated subsidiaries could differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and 

assumptions. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, 

including statements about the expected benefits and costs of the EDS acquisition; statements about HP’s plans relating to the 

acquisition; statements about the future financial and accounting impact of the acquisition; any statements of expectation or belief; and 

any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Risks, uncertainties and assumptions include the possibility that the 

expected costs and benefits of the acquisition may not materialize as expected; the risk that preliminary financial reporting estimates 

and assumptions may prove to be incorrect; and other risks that are described in HP’s Securities and Exchange Commission reports, 

including but not limited to the risks described in HP’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2008 

and HP’s other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including but not limited to HP’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 

for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2007.  HP assumes no obligation and does not intend to update these forward-looking statements 
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SIGNATURE 

  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has caused this report to be signed on its 

behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

  

  
  

HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY 

    

    

DATE: November 12, 2008 By: /s/ Paul T. Porrini 
  

Name: Paul T. Porrini 
  

Title: Vice President, Deputy General 

 Counsel and Assistant Secretary 
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EXHIBIT INDEX  

  
Exhibit  No. 

  

Description 

23.1 
  

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

99.1 

  

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of EDS as of June 30, 2008 and for the three-month and 

six-month periods ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 

99.2 

  

Audited consolidated financial statements of EDS as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for each of the three years 

in the period ended December 31, 2007 

99.3 
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements 
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EXHIBIT 23.1  

  

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

  

The Board of Directors 

 Hewlett-Packard Company: 

  

We consent to the use of our reports dated February 27, 2008 with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Electronic Data 

Systems Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, 

shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 

December 31, 2007, and all related financial statement schedules, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as 

of December 31, 2007 which report appears in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Electronic Data Systems Corporation and is 

included in the current report on Form 8-K/A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of Hewlett-Packard Company and is 

incorporated by reference in: 

  

Registration Statements on Form S-3 of Hewlett-Packard Company, Registration Nos. 333-30786, 333-83346, 333-86378 and 

333-134327; and 

  

Registration Statements on Form S-8 of Hewlett-Packard Company, Registration Nos. 333-124281, 333-114253, 333-124280, 

333-35836, 333-22947, 033-58447, 033-38579, 333-124282, 002-92331, 033-31496, 333-138783, 333-131406, 333-129863, 

333-114254, 333-113148, 333-45231, 333-30459, 033-65179, 333-114346, 333-114255, 333-87788, 333-85136, 333-70232, 

333-146630, 333-145920, 333-143632, 333-142175, 333-140857, 333-153302 and 333-149437. 

  

/s/ KPMG LLP 

KPMG LLP        

    

Dallas, Texas 
  

November 11, 2008 
  

  
 
 

 



 

EXHIBIT 99.1  

  

ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in millions, except share and per share amounts) 

  

    

June 30, 
  

December 31, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

ASSETS 
          

Current assets 
          

Cash and cash equivalents 
  

$ 3,102 
  

$ 3,139 
  

Marketable securities 
  

13 
  

55 
  

Accounts receivable, net 
  

3,883 
  

3,603 
  

Prepaids and other 
  

966 
  

958 
  

Deferred income taxes 
  

683 
  

690 
  

Total current assets 
  

8,647 
  

8,445 
  

            

Property and equipment, net 
  

2,437 
  

2,489 
  

Deferred contract costs, net 
  

1,114 
  

984 
  

Investments and other assets 
  

942 
  

1,099 
  

Goodwill 
  

5,158 
  

5,092 
  

Other intangible assets, net 
  

932 
  

929 
  

Deferred income taxes 
  

187 
  

186 
  

Total assets 
  

$ 19,417 
  

$ 19,224 
  

            

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
          

Current liabilities 
          

Accounts payable 
  

$ 737 
  

$ 605 
  

Accrued liabilities 
  

2,493 
  

2,616 
  

Deferred revenue 
  

1,561 
  

1,473 
  

Income taxes 
  

91 
  

54 
  

Current portion of long-term debt 
  

160 
  

168 
  

Total current liabilities 
  

5,042 
  

4,916 
  

            

Pension benefit liability 
  

1,032 
  

989 
  

Long-term debt, less current portion 
  

3,069 
  

3,209 
  

Minority interests and other long-term liabilities 
  

449 
  

419 
  

Commitments and contingencies 
          

Shareholders’ equity 
          

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized 200,000,000 shares; none issued 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 2,000,000,000 shares; 531,975,655 shares 

issued at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 
  

5 
  

5 
  

Additional paid-in capital 
  

3,078 
  

3,097 
  

Retained earnings 
  

6,275 
  

6,158 
  

Accumulated other comprehensive income 
  

1,141 
  

1,070 
  

Treasury stock, at cost, 27,547,218 shares at June 30, 2008 and 22,113,129 shares at 

December 31, 2007 
  

(674 ) (639 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity 
  

9,825 
  

9,691 
  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
  

$ 19,417 
  

$ 19,224 
  

  

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 

  
 
 

 



 

 

  

ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

(in millions, except per share amounts) 

  

    

Three Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

Six Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

2008 
  

2007 
  

Revenues 
  

$ 5,623 
  

$ 5,449 
  

$ 10,988 
  

$ 10,673 
  

                    

Costs and expenses 
                  

Cost of revenues 
  

4,840 
  

4,732 
  

9,652 
  

9,257 
  

Selling, general and administrative 
  

508 
  

484 
  

964 
  

918 
  

Other operating income 
  

(6 ) (1 ) (6 ) (1 ) 

Total costs and expenses, net 
  

5,342 
  

5,215 
  

10,610 
  

10,174 
  

                    

Operating income 
  

281 
  

234 
  

378 
  

499 
  

                    

Interest expense 
  

(49 ) (56 ) (90 ) (113 ) 

Interest income and other, net 
  

34 
  

24 
  

81 
  

74 
  

Other income (expense), net 
  

(15 ) (32 ) (9 ) (39 ) 

                    

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 
  

266 
  

202 
  

369 
  

460 
  

                    

Provision for income taxes 
  

107 
  

58 
  

147 
  

151 
  

Income from continuing operations 
  

159 
  

144 
  

222 
  

309 
  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 

  

1 
  

(6 ) — 
  

(7 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 160 
  

$ 138 
  

$ 222 
  

$ 302 
  

                    

Basic earnings per share of common stock 
                  

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.32 
  

$ 0.28 
  

$ 0.44 
  

$ 0.60 
  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 
  

— 
  

(0.01 ) — 
  

(0.01 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 0.32 
  

$ 0.27 
  

$ 0.44 
  

$ 0.59 
  

                    

Diluted earnings per share of common stock 
                  

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.31 
  

$ 0.27 
  

$ 0.43 
  

$ 0.58 
  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 
  

— 
  

(0.01 ) — 
  

(0.01 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 0.31 
  

$ 0.26 
  

$ 0.43 
  

$ 0.57 
  

                    

Cash dividends per share 
  

$ 0.05 
  

$ 0.05 
  

$ 0.10 
  

$ 0.10 
  

  

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(in millions) 

  

    

Six Months Ended 
  

    

June 30, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
          

Net income 
  

$ 222 
  

$ 302 
  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 
          

Depreciation and amortization and deferred cost charges 
  

764 
  

685 
  

Deferred compensation 
  

81 
  

82 
  

Other long-lived asset write-downs 
  

6 
  

— 
  

Other 
  

59 
  

72 
  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquired companies: 
          

Accounts receivable 
  

(147 ) (76 ) 

Prepaids and other 
  

(15 ) (150 ) 

Deferred contract costs 
  

(237 ) (195 ) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
  

(83 ) (54 ) 

Deferred revenue 
  

53 
  

13 
  

Income taxes 
  

163 
  

74 
  

Total adjustments 
  

644 
  

451 
  

Net cash provided by operating activities 
  

866 
  

753 
  

            

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
          

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 
  

43 
  

— 
  

Proceeds from investments and other assets 
  

31 
  

61 
  

Net proceeds from divested assets and non-marketable equity securities 
  

9 
  

53 
  

Payments for purchases of property and equipment 
  

(455 ) (367 ) 

Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and non-marketable equity securities 
  

(29 ) (43 ) 

Payments for purchases of software and other intangibles 
  

(168 ) (230 ) 

Payments for purchases of marketable securities 
  

— 
  

(2 ) 

Other 
  

9 
  

8 
  

Net cash used in investing activities 
  

(560 ) (520 ) 

            

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
          

Proceeds from long-term debt 
  

1 
  

5 
  

Payments on long-term debt 
  

(2 ) (10 ) 

Capital lease payments 
  

(103 ) (77 ) 

Purchase of treasury stock 
  

(213 ) (334 ) 

Employee stock transactions 
  

21 
  

129 
  

Dividends paid 
  

(50 ) (51 ) 

Other 
  

7 
  

7 
  

Net cash used in financing activities 
  

(339 ) (331 ) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
  

(4 ) 7 
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 
  

(37 ) (91 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 
  

3,139 
  

2,972 
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 
  

$ 3,102 
  

$ 2,881 
  

  

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

  

NOTE 1:  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

  

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Electronic Data Systems Corporation (“EDS” or the 

“Company”) have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim 

financial information. In the opinion of management, all material adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature and necessary 

for a fair presentation, have been included. The results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results that may be 

expected for any other interim period or for the full year. The information contained herein should be read in conjunction with the 

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

  

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EDS and its controlled subsidiaries. The Company 

defines control as a non-shared, non-temporary ability to make decisions that enable it to guide the ongoing activities of a subsidiary 

and the ability to use that power to increase the benefits or limit the losses from the activities of that subsidiary. Subsidiaries in which 

other shareholders effectively participate in significant operating decisions through voting or contractual rights are not considered 

controlled subsidiaries. The Company’s investments in entities it does not control, but in which it has the ability to exercise significant 

influence over operating and financial policies, are accounted for under the equity method. Under such method, the Company 

recognizes its share of the subsidiaries’ income (loss) in other income (expense). If EDS is the primary beneficiary of variable interest 

entities, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of such entities. No variable interest entities 

were consolidated during the periods presented. 

  

The preparation of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 

principles in the United States requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Because of the use of estimates inherent in the financial 

reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates. Areas in which significant judgments and estimates are used 

include, but are not limited to, cost estimation for Construct Service elements, projected cash flows associated with recoverability of 

deferred contract costs, contract concessions and long-lived assets, liabilities associated with pensions, performance guarantees and 

uncertain tax positions, recoverability of deferred tax assets, receivables collectibility, and loss accruals for litigation, exclusive of 

legal fees which are expensed as services are received. It is reasonably possible that events and circumstances could occur in the near 

term that would cause such estimates to change in a manner that would be material to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial 

statements. 

  

NOTE 2:  MERGER AGREEMENT WITH HEWLETT -PACKARD  

  

On May 13, 2008, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the 

Company, Hewlett-Packard Company (“HP”) and Hawk Merger Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of HP (“MergerCo”), 

pursuant to which, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, MergerCo will merge with and into the Company (the 

“Merger”) and the Company will continue as the surviving corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of HP. Pursuant to the terms of 

the Merger Agreement and subject to the conditions thereof, at the effective time of the Merger each share of common stock of the 

Company issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (other than (i) shares owned by HP, MergerCo or the 

Company or any of their respective direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries or (ii) Dissenting Shares (as defined in the Merger 

Agreement)) will be converted into the right to receive $25.00 in cash, without interest. The Merger Agreement was approved by the 

Company’s stockholders at a Special Meeting of Stockholders on July 31, 2008.  The waiting period for the Merger under the 

Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 expired on June 27, 2008, and the European Commission granted its approval 

of the Merger on July 25, 2008. The completion of the Merger remains subject to various conditions, including receipt of certain other 

required regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. The Merger Agreement may be terminated under certain 

circumstances, including, subject to the terms of the Merger Agreement, if the Company’s Board of Directors determines to accept an 

unsolicited superior proposal, provided that HP has first been given notice and the opportunity to make an offer that results in the 

proposal no longer being a superior proposal. The Merger Agreement provides that if the Merger Agreement is terminated under 

certain circumstances, the Company will be required to pay HP a termination fee of $375 million. Pursuant to the terms of 

Amendment No. 1 to the Merger Agreement dated July 25, 2008, the Merger will not occur earlier than August 18, 2008 without the 

prior written consent of the Company and HP. The Company expects the Merger to be completed during the third quarter of 2008. 
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NOTE 3:  ACCOUNTING CHANGE  

  

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements , for its 

financial assets and liabilities effective January 1, 2008. This standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair 

value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company elected to 

defer the provisions of Statement No. 157 for its nonfinancial assets and liabilities. Such assets and liabilities, which include the 

Company’s noncurrent assets, long-term debt, minority interest and other long-term liabilities, will be subject to the provisions of 

Statement No. 157 effective January 1, 2009. 

  

Statement No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices 

included in Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability. Such inputs include quoted prices in active 

markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs 

other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Such inputs are used to 

measure fair value when observable inputs are not available. 

  

Following is a summary of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 

2008 (in millions): 

  

        

Fair  Value Hierarchy 
  

    

Balance 
  

Level 1 
  

Level 2 
  

Level 3 
  

Available-for-sale marketable securities 
  

$ 13 
  

$ 13 
  

$ — 
  

$ — 
  

Foreign currency forward contracts, net liability 
  

(13 ) — 
  

(13 ) — 
  

Interest rate swap agreements, net liability 
  

(32 ) — 
  

(32 ) — 
  

Total 
  

$ (32 ) $ 13 
  

$ (45 ) $ — 
  

  

NOTE 4:  EARNINGS PER SHARE 

  

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute basic and diluted earnings per share are as follows for the three 

and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 (in millions): 

  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

For the three months ended June 30: 
          

Basic earnings per share 
  

503 
  

510 
  

Diluted earnings per share 
  

532 
  

541 
  

For the six months ended June 30: 
          

Basic earnings per share 
  

505 
  

512 
  

Diluted earnings per share 
  

512 
  

543 
  

  

The Company has contingently convertible debt that is excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share when the result is 

antidilutive. If the result is dilutive, income and weighted-average shares outstanding are adjusted as if conversion took place on the 

first day of the reporting period. The effect of this debt was dilutive for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the six 

months ended June 30, 2007. Accordingly, the computation of diluted earnings per share includes tax-effected interest of $5 million 

and $5 million, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and $9 million for the six months ended June 30, 

2007. In addition, 20 million shares were added to weighted-average shares outstanding in the computation of diluted earnings per 

share for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the six months ended June 30, 2007. The effect of the Company’s 

contingently convertible debt was antidilutive for six months ended June 30, 2008. 

  

Securities that were outstanding but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was 

antidilutive are as follows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 (in millions): 

  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

For the three months ended June 30: 
          

Common stock options and warrants 
  

15 
  

12 
  

For the six months ended June 30: 
          

Common stock options and warrants 
  

20 
  

12 
  

Restricted stock units 
  

1 
  

— 
  

Convertible debt 
  

20 
  

— 
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NOTE 5:  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

  

Property and equipment is stated net of accumulated depreciation of $5.0 billion and $4.7 billion at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 

2007, respectively. Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 was $197 million and $192 million, 

respectively. Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 was $400 million and $373 million, respectively. 

  

NOTE 6:  DEFERRED CONTRACT COSTS 

  

Some of the Company’s client contracts require significant investment in the early stages which is expected to be recovered through 

billings over the life of the respective contracts. These contracts often involve the construction of new computer systems and 

communications networks and the development and deployment of new technologies. Substantial performance risk exists in each 

contract with these characteristics, and some or all elements of service delivery under these contracts are dependent upon successful 

completion of the development, construction and deployment phases. At June 30, 2008, approximately $650 million of the Company’s 

net deferred construct and set-up costs related to contracts with active construct activities. The Company has approximately 25 active 

construct contracts with deferred costs in excess of $1 million. Some of these contracts have experienced delays in their development 

and construction phases, and certain milestones have been missed. It is reasonably possible that deferred costs associated with one or 

more of these contracts could become impaired due to changes in estimates of future contract cash flows. 

  

NOTE 7:  INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 

  

The Company holds interests in various equipment leases financed with non-recourse borrowings at lease inception accounted for as 

leveraged leases. The Company also holds an equity interest in a partnership which holds leveraged aircraft lease investments. The 

Company accounts for its interest in the partnership under the equity method. The carrying amount of the Company’s remaining 

equity interest in the partnership was $28 million at December 31, 2007. During the six months ended June 30, 2008, the Company 

received a cash distribution from the partnership which reduced the carrying amount of its investment to $7 million at June 30, 2008. 

  

Investments in equipment for lease is comprised of equipment to be leased to clients under long-term IT contracts and net investment 

in leased equipment associated with such contracts. The net investment in leased equipment associated with the NMCI contract was 

$137 million and $288 million at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. During 2008, the Company sold approximately 

$150 million in lease receivables associated with the NMCI contract (see Note 13). Proceeds from the sale are included in net cash 

from operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows as a change in prepaids and other current assets. Future minimum 

lease payments to be received under the NMCI contract were $124 million and $301 million at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, 

respectively. The unguaranteed residual values accruing to the Company were $21 million and $13 million, and unearned interest 

income related to these leases was $8 million and $26 million at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. The net lease 

receivable balance is classified as components of prepaids and other and investments and other assets in the consolidated balance 

sheets. Future minimum lease payments to be received were as follows: 2008 – $52 million; 2009 – $57 million; 2010 – $15 million. 

  

NOTE 8:  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND SHAREHOLDERS ô EQUITY  

  

Comprehensive income was $151 million and $285 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Comprehensive income was $293 million and $483 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The 

difference between comprehensive income and net income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 resulted 

primarily from foreign currency translation adjustments. 

  

In December 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $1 billion of its outstanding 

common stock over the next 18 months in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. In February 2008, the Company 

suspended the repurchase of shares under this authorization in light of our discussions with HP regarding the potential Merger.  The 

Company does not expect to commence repurchases under this authorization while the Merger remains pending. During the six 

months ended June 30, 2008, the Company repurchased 11.5 million shares in the open market at a cost of $213 million in connection 

with this share repurchase authorization. In April 2007, the Company completed the $1 billion share repurchase program announced in 

February 2006. The Company purchased an aggregate of 37.6 million shares of common stock at a cost of $1 billion (excluding 

transaction costs) under this program. 

  

In connection with its employee stock incentive plans, the Company issued 6.1 million shares of treasury stock at a cost of $178 

million during the six months ended June 30, 2008. The difference between the cost and fair value at the date of issuance of such 

shares has been recognized as a charge to retained earnings of $55 million during the six months ended June 30, 2008. 
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NOTE 9:  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

  

During the first quarters of 2008 and 2007, the Company issued options to purchase approximately 3.5 million and 2.3 million shares, 

respectively, of common stock with fair values of $4.15 and $8.43, respectively, per option. Options issued during the first quarters of 

2008 and 2007 are scheduled to vest in February 2011 and February 2010, respectively. Total compensation expense for stock options 

was $4 million ($3 million net of tax benefit) and $15 million ($10 million net of tax benefit), respectively, for the three months ended 

June 30, 2008 and 2007. Total compensation expense for stock options was $9 million ($6 million net of tax benefit) and $21 million 

($14 million net of tax benefit), respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. The Company also wrote off deferred 

tax assets of $2 million and $1 million, respectively, during the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and $5 million and $2 

million, respectively, during the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, related to certain stock options that expired or were 

exercised in those periods. 

  

As of June 30, 2008, options to purchase 25 million shares of common stock were outstanding with a weighted-average exercise price 

of $26 per share, of which options to purchase 17 million shares were exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $27 per 

share. At December 31, 2007, options to purchase 28 million shares of common stock were outstanding with a weighted-average 

exercise price of $28 per share, of which 22 million shares were exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $29 per share. 

  

During the first quarters of 2008 and 2007, the Company issued approximately 9.9 million and 8.2 million restricted stock units, 

respectively, with weighted-average fair values of $18.25 and $25.51, respectively, per unit. Approximately 4 million of the restricted 

stock units issued in 2008 are performance-based awards that will vest in 2011, and approximately 6 million are time-vesting awards 

that will vest ratably through 2011. Regularly scheduled vesting will occur in February 2010 for substantially all restricted stock units 

issued during the first quarter of 2007. Total compensation expense for restricted stock units was $33 million ($22 million net of tax) 

and $36 million ($23 million net of tax), respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. Total compensation 

expense for restricted stock units was $66 million ($43 million net of tax) and $61 million ($40 million net of tax), respectively, for 

the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. 

  

NOTE 10:  SEGMENT INFORMATION  

  

Following is a summary of certain financial information by reportable segment as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 

2008 and 2007 (in millions): 

  

    

Three Months Ended June 30, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

    

Revenues 
  

Operating  

 Income  

 (Loss) 
  

Revenues 
  

Operating  

 Income  

 (Loss) 
  

Americas 
  

$ 2,485 
  

$ 337 
  

$ 2,637 
  

$ 382 
  

EMEA 
  

1,887 
  

293 
  

1,829 
  

272 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

588 
  

65 
  

528 
  

30 
  

U.S. Government 
  

657 
  

136 
  

620 
  

131 
  

Other 
  

— 
  

(246 ) 3 
  

(265 ) 

Total Outsourcing 
  

5,617 
  

585 
  

5,617 
  

550 
  

All other 
  

6 
  

(304 ) (168 ) (316 ) 

Total 
  

$ 5,623 
  

$ 281 
  

$ 5,449 
  

$ 234 
  

  
  

  

Six Months Ended June 30, 
  

  

  

2008 
  

2007 
  

  

  

Revenues 
  

Operating 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Revenues 
  

Operating 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Americas 
  

$ 4,931 
  

$ 608 
  

$ 5,315 
  

$ 781 
  

EMEA 
  

3,617 
  

475 
  

3,459 
  

470 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

1,119 
  

110 
  

1,017 
  

68 
  

U.S. Government 
  

1,311 
  

237 
  

1,243 
  

257 
  

Other 
  

— 
  

(482 ) 5 
  

(521 ) 

Total Outsourcing 
  

10,978 
  

948 
  

11,039 
  

1,055 
  

All other 
  

10 
  

(570 ) (366 ) (556 ) 

Total 
  

$ 10,988 
  

$ 378 
  

$ 10,673 
  

$ 499 
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Segment information for non-U.S. operations is measured using fixed currency exchange rates in all periods presented. The Company 

adjusts its fixed currency exchange rates if and when the statutory rate differs significantly from the fixed rate to better align the two 

rates. Prior period segment information has been restated to reflect a change in the fixed exchange rates of certain non-U.S. currencies 

and other segment attribute changes in 2008. The “other” outsourcing category includes general and administrative support costs that 

are not allocated to the Company’s operating segments for management reporting purposes. The “all other” category is primarily 

comprised of corporate expenses, including stock-based compensation, and also includes differences between fixed and actual 

exchange rates. Revenues for the Asia Pacific segment include MphasiS intersegment revenues of $107 million and $50 million, 

respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and $166 million and $87 million, respectively, for the six months 

ended June 30, 2008 and 2007. 

  

NOTE 11:  RETIREMENT PLANS  

  

Following is a summary of the components of net periodic benefit cost recognized in earnings for the three and six months ended 

June 30, 2008 and 2007 (in millions): 

  

    

Three Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

Six Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

2008 
  

2007 
  

Service cost 
  

$ 89 
  

$ 94 
  

$ 178 
  

$ 188 
  

Interest cost 
  

152 
  

131 
  

304 
  

261 
  

Expected return on plan assets 
  

(200 ) (172 ) (400 ) (340 ) 

Amortization of transition obligation 
  

— 
  

— 
  

1 
  

1 
  

Amortization of prior-service cost 
  

(9 ) (10 ) (18 ) (19 ) 

Amortization of net actuarial loss 
  

2 
  

6 
  

3 
  

14 
  

Net periodic benefit cost 
  

$ 34 
  

$ 49 
  

$ 68 
  

$ 105 
  

  

The Company currently plans to contribute approximately $140 million to its pension plans worldwide during fiscal year 2008, 

including discretionary and statutory contributions, of which approximately $73 million was contributed during the six months ended 

June 30, 2008. 

  

NOTE 12:  TAXES 

  

The Company’s effective income tax rates on income from continuing operations were 40% and 29% for the three months ended 

June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company’s effective income tax rates on income from continuing operations were 40% and 

33% for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The effective tax rates in 2008 were impacted by the expiration of 

the U.S. research and development credit which had a negative impact on earnings of approximately $0.01 per share for the three 

months ended June 30, 2008 and $0.02 per share for the six months ended June 30, 2008. The effective tax rates in 2007 were 

impacted by Texas tax legislation which will permit the recovery of $13 million of deferred tax assets that were written off in a prior 

year. 

  

Unrecognized tax benefits decreased by $29 million during the first half of 2008, and the Company anticipates settling approximately 

$33 million of liabilities over the next 12 months. These reductions are primarily related to various U.S. tax returns, at amounts that 

are not significantly different from the amounts currently accrued. In addition, due to the ongoing nature of current examinations in 

various jurisdictions, other changes could occur in the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months which 

cannot be estimated at this time. 

  

NOTE 13:  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

  

In connection with certain service contracts, the Company may arrange a client supported financing transaction (“CSFT”) with a client 

and an independent third-party financial institution or its designee, or a securitization transaction where the Company sells certain 

financial assets resulting from the related service contract. Under CSFT arrangements, the financial institution finances the purchase 

of certain IT-related assets and simultaneously leases those assets for use in connection with the service contract. Under securitization 

transactions, the Company purchases capital assets and sells certain financial assets resulting from the related service contract to a 

trust. As of June 30, 2008, an aggregate of $47 million outstanding under CSFTs and $140 million of securitized financial assets were 

yet to be paid by the Company’s clients (see Note 7). The Company believes it is in compliance with performance obligations under 

all service contracts for which there is a related CSFT or securitization and the ultimate liability, if any, incurred in connection with 

such financings will not have a material adverse affect on its consolidated results of operations or financial position. 
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In the normal course of business, the Company may provide certain clients, principally governmental entities, with financial 

performance guarantees, which are generally backed by standby letters of credit or surety bonds. In general, the Company would only 

be liable for the amounts of these guarantees in the event that nonperformance by the Company permits termination of the related 

contract by the Company’s client, which the Company believes is remote. At June 30, 2008, the Company had $698 million of 

outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds relating to these performance guarantees. The Company believes it is in 

compliance with its performance obligations under all service contracts for which there is a financial performance guarantee, and the 

ultimate liability, if any, incurred in connection with these guarantees will not have a material adverse affect on its consolidated results 

of operations or financial position. In addition, the Company had $3 million of other financial guarantees outstanding at June 30, 2008 

relating to indebtedness of others. 

  

Pending Litigation and Proceedings 

  

On December 19, 2003, Sky Subscribers Services Limited (“SSSL”) and British Sky Broadcasting Limited (“BSkyB”), a former client 

of the Company, served a draft pleading seeking redress for the Company’s alleged failure to perform pursuant to a contract between 

the parties. Under applicable legal procedures, the Company responded to the allegations. Despite the response, on August 17, 2004, 

SSSL and BSkyB issued and served upon the Company a pleading alleging the following damages, each presented as an alternative 

cause of action: (1) pre-contract deceit in 2000 in the amount of £320 million (approximately $640 million); (2) pre-contract negligent 

misrepresentation in 2000 in the amount of £127 million (approximately $250 million); (3) deceit inducing the Letter of Agreement in 

July 2001 in the amount of £261 million (approximately $520 million); (4) negligent misrepresentation inducing the Letter of 

Agreement in July 2001 in the amount of £116 million (approximately $230 million); and (5) breach of contract from 2000 through 

2002 in the amount of £101 million (approximately $200 million). On November 12, 2004, the Company filed its defense and 

counterclaim denying the claims and seeking damages in the amount of £4.7 million (approximately $9.4 million). On December 21, 

2005, SSSL and BSkyB filed a Re-Amended Particulars of Claim alleging the following damages, still as alternative causes of action: 

(1) pre-contract deceit in the amount of £480 million (approximately $960 million); (2) pre-contract negligent misrepresentation and 

negligent misstatement in the amount of £480 million (approximately $960 million); (3) deceit inducing the Letter of Agreement and 

negligent misrepresentation inducing the Letter of Agreement of £415 million (approximately $830 million); and (4) breach of 

contract in the amount of £179 million (approximately $360 million). The principal stated reason for the increases in amount of 

damages was that the claimants had taken the opportunity to re-assess their alleged lost profits and increased costs to deliver the 

project in light of the extended timetable they then required to complete delivery of the project that was the subject of the contract. 

Claimants said then that they would further re-assess these alleged losses prior to trial. In April 2007, the claimants served on EDS in 

draft further amendments to the Particulars of Claim, and the Court conditionally granted claimants request to amend. The claimants 

have increased the damages claim still further, as follows: (1) pre-contract deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent 

misstatement in the sum of £711.4 million (approximately $1.4 billion); (2) deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent 

misstatement inducing the Letter of Agreement in the sum of £582.9 million (approximately $1.2 billion); and (3) breach of contract in 

the amount of £160.3 million (approximately $320 million). These heads of claim are still pleaded in the alternative. The principal 

stated reason for the increases in the amount of damages is that the claimants say they have re-assessed their alleged losses in the light 

of expert witness evidence. Weeks later, and immediately prior to a hearing on May 25, 2007, the claimants made further revisions to 

the quantum of their damages claims, as follows: (1) pre-contract deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent misstatement in 

the sum of £709.3 million (approximately $1.4 billion); (2) deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent misstatement inducing 

the Letter of Agreement in the sum of £523 million (approximately $1.0 billion); and (3) breach of contract remained unchanged in the 

amount of £160.3 million (approximately $320 million). These heads of claim are still pleaded in the alternative. The stated reason for 

the revisions of the damages claims in (1) and (2) above is that the claimants made arithmetical errors in the preceding amendments a 

few weeks earlier. A hearing was held on May 25, 2007 at which the court granted claimants leave to amend their pleaded case. 

BSkyB has since made further amendments to points of detail in the particulars of claim, however the pleaded quantum of the claim 

remains unchanged. The dispute surrounds a contract the Company entered into with BSkyB in November 2000, which was 

terminated by the Company in January 2003 for BSkyB’s failure to pay its invoices. The contract had an initial total contract value of 

approximately £48 million which rose to just over £60 million during the term of the contract. The Company intends to defend against 

these allegations vigorously. The trial for this matter commenced in October 2007 and concluded on July 30, 2008. Although there can 

be no assurance as to the outcome of this matter, the Company does not believe it will have a material adverse impact on its 

consolidated results or financial position. 

  

There are other various claims and pending actions against the Company arising in the ordinary course of its business. Certain of these 

actions seek damages in significant amounts. The amount of the Company’s liability for such claims and pending actions at June 30, 

2008 was not determinable. However, in the opinion of management, the ultimate liability, if any, resulting from such claims and 

pending actions will not have a material adverse affect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial position. 
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NOTE 14:  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

  

Following is a summary of income (loss) from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 (in 

millions): 

  

    

Three Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

Six Months Ended  

 June 30, 
  

    

2008 
  

2007 
  

2008 
  

2007 
  

Revenues 
  

$ — 
  

$ 1 
  

$ — 
  

$ 1 
  

Costs and expenses 
  

1 
  

13 
  

1 
  

20 
  

Operating loss 
  

(1 ) (12 ) (1 ) (19 ) 

Gain (loss), net 
  

2 
  

(5 ) 1 
  

— 
  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before 

income taxes 
  

1 
  

(17 ) — 
  

(19 ) 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 
  

— 
  

11 
  

— 
  

12 
  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of 

income taxes 
  

$ 1 
  

$ (6 ) $ — 
  

$ (7 ) 
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EXHIBIT 99.2  

  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

  

The Board of Directors 

Electronic Data Systems Corporation: 

  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Electronic Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries as of 

December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income 

(loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. In connection with our audits of the 

consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the related financial statement schedule. These consolidated financial 

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Electronic Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their 

cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic 

consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

  

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2007, the Company adopted Financial Standards Board 

Interpretation No. 48,  Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes , during 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158,  Employersô Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans ï an 

Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R , and, during 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R,  Share- Based 

Payment . 

  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 

Electronic Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on 

criteria established in  Internal Control ï Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 27, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  

  

KPMG LLP 

Dallas, Texas 

February 27, 2008 

  
 
 

 



 

 

  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNT ING FIRM  

  

The Board of Directors 

Electronic Data Systems Corporation: 

  

We have audited Electronic Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as 

of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in  Internal Control ï Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 

reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 

financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 

of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 

the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 

on the financial statements. 

  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

  

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2007, based on criteria established in  Internal Control ï Integrated Framework  issued by COSO. 

  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 

consolidated balance sheets of Electronic Data Systems Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the 

related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years 

in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, and the related financial statement schedule, and our report dated February 27, 

2008, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and schedule. 

  

  

KPMG LLP 

Dallas, Texas 

February 27, 2008 
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ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in millions, except share and per share amounts) 

  

    

December 31, 
  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

ASSETS 
          

Current assets 
          

Cash and cash equivalents 
  

$ 3,139 
  

$ 2,972 
  

Marketable securities 
  

55 
  

45 
  

Accounts receivable, net 
  

3,603 
  

3,647 
  

Prepaids and other 
  

958 
  

866 
  

Deferred income taxes 
  

690 
  

727 
  

Total current assets 
  

8,445 
  

8,257 
  

            

Property and equipment, net 
  

2,489 
  

2,179 
  

Deferred contract costs, net 
  

984 
  

807 
  

Investments and other assets 
  

1,099 
  

636 
  

Goodwill 
  

5,092 
  

4,365 
  

Other intangible assets, net 
  

929 
  

749 
  

Deferred income taxes 
  

186 
  

961 
  

Total assets 
  

$ 19,224 
  

$ 17,954 
  

            

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
          

Current liabilities 
          

Accounts payable 
  

$ 605 
  

$ 677 
  

Accrued liabilities 
  

2,616 
  

2,689 
  

Deferred revenue 
  

1,473 
  

1,669 
  

Income taxes 
  

54 
  

72 
  

Current portion of long-term debt 
  

168 
  

127 
  

Total current liabilities 
  

4,916 
  

5,234 
  

            

Pension benefit liability 
  

989 
  

1,404 
  

Long-term debt, less current portion 
  

3,209 
  

2,965 
  

Minority interests and other long-term liabilities 
  

419 
  

455 
  

Commitments and contingencies 
          

Shareholders’ equity 
          

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized 200,000,000 shares; none issued 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 2,000,000,000 shares; 531,975,655 shares issued at 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 
  

5 
  

5 
  

Additional paid-in capital 
  

3,097 
  

2,973 
  

Retained earnings 
  

6,158 
  

5,630 
  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
  

1,070 
  

(182 ) 

Treasury stock, at cost, 22,113,129 and 17,658,428 shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively 
  

(639 ) (530 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity 
  

9,691 
  

7,896 
  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
  

$ 19,224 
  

$ 17,954 
  

  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

(in millions, except per share amounts) 

  

    

Years Ended December 31, 
  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Revenues 
  

$ 22,134 
  

$ 21,268 
  

$ 19,757 
  

                

Costs and expenses 
              

Cost of revenues 
  

18,936 
  

18,579 
  

17,422 
  

Selling, general and administrative 
  

1,910 
  

1,858 
  

1,819 
  

Other operating (income) expense 
  

156 
  

15 
  

(26 ) 

Total costs and expenses 
  

21,002 
  

20,452 
  

19,215 
  

                

Operating income 
  

1,132 
  

816 
  

542 
  

                

Interest expense 
  

(225 ) (239 ) (241 ) 

Interest income and other, net 
  

182 
  

179 
  

138 
  

Other income (expense) 
  

(43 ) (60 ) (103 ) 

                

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 
  

1,089 
  

756 
  

439 
  

                

Provision for income taxes 
  

360 
  

257 
  

153 
  

Income from continuing operations 
  

729 
  

499 
  

286 
  

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 
  

(13 ) (29 ) (136 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 716 
  

$ 470 
  

$ 150 
  

                

Basic earnings per share of common stock 
              

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 1.42 
  

$ 0.96 
  

$ 0.55 
  

Loss from discontinued operations 
  

(0.02 ) (0.05 ) (0.26 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 1.40 
  

$ 0.91 
  

$ 0.29 
  

                

Diluted earnings per share of common stock 
              

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 1.37 
  

$ 0.94 
  

$ 0.54 
  

Loss from discontinued operations 
  

(0.02 ) (0.05 ) (0.26 ) 

Net income 
  

$ 1.35 
  

$ 0.89 
  

$ 0.28 
  

  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS ô EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

(in millions) 

  
  

  

Common Stock  
  

Additional  
      

Accumulated 

 Other 

 Comprehensive 
  

Treasury Stock  
      

  

  

Shares 

 Issued 
  

Amount 
  

Paid-In 

 Capital 
  

Retained 

 Earnings 
  

Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Shares 

 Held 
  

Amount 
  

Shareholdersô 

 Equity  
  

Balance at December 31, 2004 
  

523 
  

$ 5 
  

$ 2,433 
  

$ 5,492 
  

$ (59 ) 7 
  

$ (431 ) $ 7,440 
  

Comprehensive loss: 
                                  

Net income 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

150 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

150 
  

Currency translation 
adjustment, net of tax 

effect of $(75) 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(293 ) — 
  

— 
  

(293 ) 

Unrealized losses on 

securities, net of tax 
effect of $(3), and 

reclassification 

adjustment 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(1 ) — 
  

— 
  

(1 ) 

Change in minimum 
pension liability, net of 

tax effect of $(7) 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(14 ) — 
  

— 
  

(14 ) 

Total comprehensive loss 
                              

(158 ) 

Dividends 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(105 ) — 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(105 ) 
Stock award transactions 

  

3 
  

— 
  

249 
  

(166 ) — 
  

(4 ) 252 
  

335 
  

Balance at December 31, 2005 
  

526 
  

$ 5 
  

$ 2,682 
  

$ 5,371 
  

$ (367 ) 3 
  

$ (179 ) $ 7,512 
  

Comprehensive income: 
                                  

Net income 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

470 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

470 
  

Currency translation 

adjustment, net of tax 
effect of $70 

  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

313 
  

— 
  

— 
  

313 
  

Unrealized losses on 

securities, net of tax 

effect of $4, and 
reclassification 

adjustment 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

4 
  

— 
  

— 
  

4 
  

Change in minimum 

pension liability, net of 
tax effect of $229 

  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

434 
  

— 
  

— 
  

434 
  

Total comprehensive 
income 

                              

1,221 
  

Adjustment to initially apply 
FASB Statement No. 158, 

net of tax effect of $(255) 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(566 ) — 
  

— 
  

(566 ) 

Dividends 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(104 ) — 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(104 ) 

Purchase of treasury shares 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

26 
  

(683 ) (683 ) 

Stock award transactions 
  

6 
  

— 
  

291 
  

(107 ) — 
  

(11 ) 332 
  

516 
  

Balance at December 31, 2006 
  

532 
  

$ 5 
  

$ 2,973 
  

$ 5,630 
  

$ (182 ) 18 
  

$ (530 ) $ 7,896 
  

Comprehensive income: 
                                  

Net income 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

716 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

716 
  

Currency translation 
adjustment, net of tax effect 

of $135 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

410 
  

— 
  

— 
  

410 
  

Change in funded status of 

pension plans, net of tax 

effect of $394 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

842 
  

— 
  

— 
  

842 
  

Total comprehensive income 
                              

1,968 
  

Adjustment to initially apply 

FASB Interpretation No. 48 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(17 ) — 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(17 ) 
Dividends 

  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(102 ) — 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(102 ) 

Purchase of treasury shares 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

— 
  

14 
  

(374 ) (374 ) 
Stock award transactions 

  

— 
  

— 
  

124 
  

(69 ) — 
  

(10 ) 265 
  

320 
  

Balance at December 31, 2007 
  

532 
  

$ 5 
  

$ 3,097 
  

$ 6,158 
  

$ 1,070 
  

22 
  

$ (639 ) $ 9,691 
  

  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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ELECTRONIC DATA SYSTEMS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES  

  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(in millions) 

  

    

Years Ended December 31, 
  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
              

Net income 
  

$ 716 
  

$ 470 
  

$ 150 
  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities: 
              

Depreciation and amortization and deferred cost charges 
  

1,441 
  

1,337 
  

1,384 
  

Deferred compensation 
  

154 
  

209 
  

224 
  

Other long-lived asset write-downs 
  

14 
  

19 
  

164 
  

Other 
  

69 
  

15 
  

80 
  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquired 

companies: 
              

Accounts receivable 
  

327 
  

51 
  

(310 ) 

Prepaids and other 
  

(191 ) (155 ) 20 
  

Deferred contract costs 
  

(331 ) (285 ) (161 ) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
  

(95 ) 312 
  

(207 ) 

Deferred revenue 
  

(269 ) 194 
  

299 
  

Income taxes 
  

206 
  

(234 ) (347 ) 

Total adjustments 
  

1,325 
  

1,463 
  

1,146 
  

Net cash provided by operating activities 
  

2,041 
  

1,933 
  

1,296 
  

                

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
              

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 
  

— 
  

2,793 
  

1,434 
  

Proceeds from investments and other assets 
  

67 
  

264 
  

310 
  

Net proceeds (payments) from divested assets and non-marketable 

equity securities 
  

53 
  

(49 ) 160 
  

Net proceeds from real estate sales 
  

28 
  

49 
  

178 
  

Payments for purchases of property and equipment 
  

(725 ) (729 ) (718 ) 

Payments for investments and other assets 
  

— 
  

(94 ) (27 ) 

Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and non-marketable 

equity securities 
  

(461 ) (361 ) (552 ) 

Payments for purchases of software and other intangibles 
  

(378 ) (427 ) (300 ) 

Payments for purchases of marketable securities 
  

(4 ) (1,514 ) (1,311 ) 

Other 
  

34 
  

35 
  

29 
  

Net cash used in investing activities 
  

(1,386 ) (33 ) (797 ) 

                

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
              

Proceeds from long-term debt 
  

13 
  

— 
  

5 
  

Payments on long-term debt 
  

(17 ) (213 ) (560 ) 

Capital lease payments 
  

(175 ) (144 ) (149 ) 

Purchase of treasury stock 
  

(391 ) (667 ) — 
  

Employee stock transactions 
  

155 
  

285 
  

107 
  

Dividends paid 
  

(102 ) (104 ) (105 ) 

Other 
  

13 
  

9 
  

21 
  

Net cash used in financing activities 
  

(504 ) (834 ) (681 ) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
  

16 
  

7 
  

(21 ) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
  

167 
  

1,073 
  

(203 ) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
  

2,972 
  

1,899 
  

2,102 
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 
  

$ 3,139 
  

$ 2,972 
  

$ 1,899 
  

  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

  

NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

  

Description of Business 

  

Electronic Data Systems Corporation is a professional services firm that offers its clients a portfolio of related services worldwide 

within the broad categories of IT infrastructure, applications and business process outsourcing services. The Company also provided 

management consulting services through its A.T. Kearney subsidiary which was sold in January 2006 (see Note 17). Services include 

the design, construction or management of computer networks, information systems, information processing facilities and business 

processes. As used herein, the terms “EDS” and the “Company” refer to Electronic Data Systems Corporation and its consolidated 

subsidiaries. 

  

Principles of Consolidation 

  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EDS and its controlled subsidiaries. The Company defines control as a 

non-shared, non-temporary ability to make decisions that enable it to guide the ongoing activities of a subsidiary and the ability to use 

that power to increase the benefits or limit the losses from the activities of that subsidiary. Subsidiaries in which other shareholders 

effectively participate in significant operating decisions through voting or contractual rights are not considered controlled subsidiaries. 

The Company’s investments in entities it does not control, but in which it has the ability to exercise significant influence over 

operating and financial policies, are accounted for under the equity method. Under such method, the Company recognizes its share of 

the subsidiaries’ income (loss) in other income (expense). If the Company is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entities, the 

consolidated financial statements include the accounts of such entities. No variable interest entities were consolidated during the 

periods presented. 

  

Earnings Per Share 

  

Basic earnings per share of common stock is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 

period. Diluted earnings per share of common stock reflects the incremental increase in common shares outstanding assuming the 

exercise of all employee stock options and stock purchase contracts and the issuance of shares in respect of restricted stock units that 

would have had a dilutive effect on earnings per share. Contingently convertible debt is excluded from the computation of diluted 

earnings per share when the result is antidilutive. If the result is dilutive, net income and weighted-average shares outstanding are 

adjusted as if conversion took place on the first day of the reporting period. The effect of the Company’s contingently convertible debt 

was dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2007. Accordingly, $19 million of tax-effected interest was added to income from 

continuing operations and net income and 20 million shares were added to weighted-average shares outstanding in the computation of 

diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

  

Following is a reconciliation of the number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Basic earnings per share of common stock: 
              

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 
  

512 
  

519 
  

519 
  

Effect of dilutive securities (Note 11): 
              

Restricted stock units 
  

6 
  

2 
  

2 
  

Stock options 
  

4 
  

8 
  

5 
  

Convertible debt 
  

20 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Diluted earnings per share of common stock: 
              

Weighted-average common and common equivalent shares outstanding 

  

542 
  

529 
  

526 
  

  

Securities that were outstanding but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was 

antidilutive are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Common stock options and warrants 
  

13 
  

15 
  

42 
  

Convertible debt 
  

— 
  

20 
  

20 
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Accounting Changes 

  

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 

Taxes ï an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 , effective January 1, 2007. See Note 10 for additional information related to this 

new accounting standard. 

  

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 158, Employersô Accounting for Defined Benefit 

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans ï An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R , effective December 31, 

2006. This Statement requires recognition of the funded status of a defined benefit plan in the statement of financial position as an 

asset or liability if the plan is overfunded or underfunded, respectively. Changes in the funded status of a plan are required to be 

recognized in the year in which the changes occur, and reported in comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ 

equity. Further, certain gains and losses that were not previously recognized in the financial statements are required to be reported in 

comprehensive income, and certain disclosure requirements were changed. These changes were effective for fiscal years ending after 

December 15, 2006, with no retroactive restatement of prior periods. Adoption of this standard did not impact the Company’s 

compliance with financial debt covenants. 

  

Following is the incremental impact of applying SFAS No. 158 on individual line items in the consolidated balance sheet at 

December 31, 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

Before 

 Application of 

 SFAS 158 
  

Adjustments 
  

After  

 Application of 

 SFAS 158 
  

Investments and other assets 
  

$ 872 
  

$ (236 ) $ 636 
  

Deferred income taxes 
  

706 
  

255 
  

961 
  

Total assets 
  

17,935 
  

19 
  

17,954 
  

Accrued liabilities 
  

2,653 
  

36 
  

2,689 
  

Total current liabilities 
  

5,198 
  

36 
  

5,234 
  

Pension benefit liability 
  

855 
  

549 
  

1,404 
  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
  

384 
  

(566 ) (182 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity 
  

8,462 
  

(566 ) 7,896 
  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
  

17,935 
  

19 
  

17,954 
  

                      

  

SFAS No. 158 also requires companies to measure a plan’s assets and obligations that determine its funded status as of the end of the 

employer’s fiscal year instead of the October 31 early measurement date the Company currently uses. The Company will adopt the 

measurement date change in the fourth quarter of 2008. Upon adoption, the Company will recognize a reduction of retained earnings 

of approximately $22 million, representing net periodic benefit cost for the period from October 31, 2008, to December 31, 2008. If 

any curtailments, settlements or other special termination benefit charges are incurred during that period, the impact will be 

recognized in earnings. 

  

Accounts Receivable 

  

Reserves for uncollectible trade receivables are established when collection of amounts due from clients is deemed improbable. 

Indicators of improbable collection include client bankruptcy, client litigation, industry downturns, client cash flow difficulties, or 

ongoing service or billing disputes. Receivables more than 180 days past due are automatically reserved unless persuasive evidence of 

probable collection exists. Accounts receivable are shown net of allowances of $51 million and $71 million at December 31, 2007 and 

2006, respectively. 

  

Marketable Securities 

  

Marketable securities consist of government and agency obligations, corporate debt and corporate equity securities. The Company 

classifies all of its debt and marketable equity securities as trading or available-for-sale. All such investments are recorded at fair 

value. Changes in net unrealized holding gains (losses) on trading securities are recognized in income, whereas changes in net 

unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 

loss, net of tax, in shareholders’ equity until realized. 

  

Investments in marketable securities are monitored for impairment and written down to fair value with a charge to earnings if a 

decline in fair value is judged to be other than temporary. The Company considers several factors to determine whether a decline in 

the fair value of an equity security is other than temporary, including the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been 

less than carrying value, the financial condition of the investee, and the intent and ability of the Company to retain the investment for a 

period of time sufficient to allow a recovery in value. 
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Property and Equipment 

  

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over 

the shorter of the asset’s estimated useful life or the term of the lease in the case of leasehold improvements. The ranges of estimated 

useful lives are as follows: 

  

    

Years 
  

Buildings 
  

40-50 
  

Facilities 
  

5-20 
  

Computer equipment 
  

3-5 
  

Other equipment and furniture 
  

5-20 
  

  

The Company reviews its property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 

values of such assets may not be recoverable. For property and equipment to be held and used, impairment is determined by a 

comparison of the carrying value of the asset to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such 

assets are determined to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the 

fair value of the assets. Property and equipment to be disposed of by sale is carried at the lower of then current carrying value or fair 

value less cost to sell. 

  

Investments and Other Assets 

  

Investments in non-marketable equity securities are monitored for impairment and written down to fair value with a charge to earnings 

if a decline in fair value is judged to be other than temporary. The fair values of non-marketable equity securities are determined based 

on quoted market prices. If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are estimated based on an evaluation of numerous 

indicators including, but not limited to, offering prices of recent issuances of the same or similar equity instruments, quoted market 

prices for similar companies and comparisons of recent financial information, operating plans, budgets, market studies and client 

information to the information used to support the initial valuation of the investment. The Company considers several factors to 

determine whether a decline in the fair value of a non-marketable equity security is other than temporary, including the length of time 

and the extent to which the fair value has been less than carrying value, the financial condition of the investee, and the intent and 

ability of the Company to retain the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow a recovery in value. 

  

Goodwill and Other Intangibles 

  

The cost of acquired companies is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values at the date of 

acquisition. Costs allocated to identifiable intangible assets with finite lives, other than purchased software, are generally amortized on 

a straight-line basis over the remaining estimated useful lives of the assets, as determined by underlying contract terms or appraisals. 

Such lives range from one to 14 years. Identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but instead tested for 

impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives are impaired when the carrying value of the asset exceeds their fair value. 

  

The excess of the cost of acquired companies over the net amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as 

goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually. The first step of the impairment test is a 

comparison of the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. Reporting units are the geographic components of its reportable 

segments that share similar economic characteristics. The fair value of a reporting unit is estimated using the Company’s projections 

of discounted future operating cash flows of the unit. Goodwill allocated to a reporting unit whose fair value is equal to or greater than 

its carrying value is not impaired and no further testing is required. A reporting unit whose fair value is less than its carrying value 

requires a second step to determine whether the goodwill allocated to the unit is impaired. The second step of the goodwill impairment 

test is a comparison of the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill to its carrying value. The implied fair value of a reporting 

unit’s goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the entire reporting unit to the assets and liabilities of that unit, including 

any unrecognized intangible assets, based on fair value. The excess of the fair value of the entire reporting unit over the amounts 

allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the unit is the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. Goodwill of a 

reporting unit is impaired when its carrying value exceeds its implied fair value. Impaired goodwill is written down to its implied fair 

value with a charge to expense in the period the impairment is identified. As this impairment test is based on the Company’s 

assessment of the fair value of its reporting units, future changes to these estimates could also cause an impairment of a portion of the 

Company’s goodwill balance. 

  

The Company conducts an annual impairment test for goodwill as of December 1st. The Company determines the timing and 

frequency of additional goodwill impairment tests based on an ongoing assessment of events and circumstances that would more than 

likely reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. Events or circumstances that might require the need 
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for more frequent tests include, but are not limited to: the loss of a number of significant clients, the identification of other impaired 

assets within a reporting unit, the disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit, or a significant adverse change in business 

climate or regulations. The Company also considers the amount by which the fair value of a particular reporting unit exceeded its 

carrying value in the most recent goodwill impairment test to determine whether more frequent tests are necessary. 

  

Purchased or licensed software not subject to a subscription agreement is capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis, generally 

over two to five years. Costs of developing and maintaining software systems incurred primarily in connection with client contracts 

are considered contract costs. Purchased software and certain development costs for computer software sold, leased or otherwise 

marketed as a separate product or as part of a product or process are capitalized and amortized on a product-by-product basis over 

their remaining estimated useful lives at the greater of straight-line or the ratio that current gross revenues for a product bear to the 

total of current and anticipated future gross revenues for that product. The estimated useful lives of software products to be sold, 

leased or otherwise marketed are generally three years or less. Software development costs incurred to meet the Company’s internal 

needs are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over three to five years. Software under subscription arrangements, 

whereby the software provider makes available current software products as well as products developed or acquired during the term of 

the arrangement, are executory contracts and expensed ratably over the subscription term. 

  

Sales of Financial Assets 

  

The Company accounts for the sale of financial assets when control over the financial asset is relinquished. In most cases, the 

Company sold lease receivables to a legally isolated securitization trust. If a trust is not used, the receivables are sold to an 

independent substantive financial institution. None of these transactions resulted in any significant gain or loss, or servicing asset or 

servicing liability. 

  

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Contract Costs 

  

The Company provides IT and business process outsourcing services under time-and-material, unit-price and fixed-price contracts, 

which may extend up to 10 or more years. Services provided over the term of these arrangements may include one or more of the 

following: IT infrastructure support and management; IT system and software maintenance; application hosting; the design, 

development, and/or construction of software and systems (“Construct Service”); transaction processing; business process 

management and consulting services. 

  

If a contract involves the provision of a single element, revenue is generally recognized when the product or service is provided and 

the amount earned is not contingent upon any future event. If the service is provided evenly during the contract term but service 

billings are irregular, revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term. However, if the single service is a Construct 

Service, revenue is recognized under the percentage-of-completion method usually using a zero-profit methodology. Under this 

method, costs are deferred until contractual milestones are met, at which time the milestone billing is recognized as revenue and an 

amount of deferred costs is recognized as expense so that cumulative profit equals zero. If the milestone billing exceeds deferred costs, 

then the excess is recorded as deferred revenue. When the Construct Service is completed and the final milestone met, all 

unrecognized costs, milestone billings, and profit are recognized in full. If the contract does not contain contractual milestones, costs 

are expensed as incurred and revenue is recognized in an amount equal to costs incurred until completion of the Construct Service, at 

which time any profit would be recognized in full. If total costs are estimated to exceed revenue for the Construct Service, then a 

provision for the estimated loss is made in the period in which the loss first becomes apparent. 

  

If a contract involves the provision of multiple service elements, total estimated contract revenue is allocated to each element based on 

the relative fair value of each element. The amount of revenue allocated to each element is limited to the amount that is not contingent 

upon the delivery of another element in the future. Revenue is then recognized for each element as described above for single-element 

contracts, except revenue recognized on a straight-line basis for a non-Construct Service will not exceed amounts currently billable 

unless the excess revenue is recoverable from the client upon any contract termination event. If the amount of revenue allocated to a 

Construct Service is less than its relative fair value, costs to deliver such service equal to the difference between allocated revenue and 

the relative fair value are deferred and amortized over the contract term. If total Construct Service costs are estimated to exceed the 

relative fair value for the Construct Service contained in a multiple-element arrangement, then a provision for the estimated loss is 

made in the period in which the loss first becomes apparent. If fair value is not determinable for all elements, the contract is treated as 

one accounting unit and revenue is recognized using the proportional performance method. 

  

The Company also defers and subsequently amortizes certain set-up costs related to activities that enable the provision of contracted 

services to the client. Such activities include the relocation of transitioned employees, the migration of client systems or processes, and 

the exit of client facilities acquired upon entering into the client contract. Deferred contract costs, including set-up costs, are amortized 

on a straight-line basis over the remaining original contract term unless billing patterns indicate a more 
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accelerated method is appropriate. The recoverability of deferred contract costs associated with a particular contract is analyzed on a 

periodic basis using the undiscounted estimated cash flows of the whole contract over its remaining contract term. If such 

undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the long-lived assets and deferred contract costs, including contract concessions 

paid to the client, the deferred contract costs and contract concessions are written down by the amount of the cash flow deficiency. If a 

cash flow deficiency remains after reducing the balance of the deferred contract costs and contract concessions to zero, any remaining 

long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment. Any such impairment recognized would equal the amount by which the carrying value 

of the long-lived assets exceeds the fair value of those assets. 

  

The Company’s software licensing arrangements typically include multiple elements, such as software products, post-contract 

customer support, consulting and training. The aggregate arrangement fee is allocated to each of the undelivered elements in an 

amount equal to its fair value, with the residual of the arrangement fee allocated to the delivered elements. Fair values are based upon 

vendor-specific objective evidence. Fees allocated to each software element of the arrangement are recognized as revenue when the 

following criteria have been met: a) a written contract for the license of software has been executed, b) the Company has delivered the 

product to the customer, c) the license fee is fixed or determinable, and d) collectibility of the resulting receivable is deemed probable. 

If evidence of fair value of the undelivered elements of the arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the arrangement is deferred 

until such time evidence of fair value does exist, or until all elements of the arrangement are delivered. Fees allocated to post-contract 

customer support are recognized as revenue ratably over the support period. Fees allocated to other services are recognized as revenue 

as the service is performed. 

  

Deferred revenue of $1,473 million and $1,669 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, represented billings in excess of 

amounts earned on certain contracts. 

  

Stock-Based Compensation 

  

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model. The outstanding term of an 

option is estimated using a simplified method, which is the average of the vesting term and contractual term of the option. Expected 

volatility during the estimated outstanding term of the option is based on historical volatility during a period equivalent to the 

estimated outstanding term of the option and implied volatility as determined based on observed market prices of the Company’s 

publicly traded options. Expected dividends during the estimated outstanding term of the option are based on recent dividend activity. 

Risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant. The Company estimates the fair value of 

restricted stock units based on the market value of its stock on the date of grant, adjusted for any restrictive provisions affecting fair 

value, such as required holding periods after the date of vesting. Compensation expense for share-based payment is charged to 

operations over the vesting period of the award, and includes an estimate for the number of awards expected to vest. The initial 

estimate is based on historical results, and compensation expense is adjusted for actual results. If vesting of the award is conditioned 

upon the achievement of performance goals, compensation expense during the performance period is estimated using the most 

probable outcome of the performance goals, and adjusted as the expected outcome changes. 

  

Currency Translation 

  

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated at current exchange rates. 

Revenue and expense accounts are translated using an average rate for the period. Translation gains and losses are reflected in the 

accumulated other comprehensive loss component of shareholders’ equity net of income taxes. Cumulative currency translation 

adjustment gains included in shareholders’ equity were $912 million, $502 million and $189 million at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 

2005, respectively. Net currency transaction gains (losses) are reflected in other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of 

income and were $(18) million, $(18) million and $6 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

  

Financial Instruments and Risk Management 

  

Following is a summary of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s significant financial instruments at December 31, 

2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

    

Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Estimated 

 Fair  Value 
  

Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Estimated 

 Fair  Value 
  

Available-for-sale marketable securities (Note 2) 
  

$ 55 
  

$ 55 
  

$ 45 
  

$ 45 
  

Investments in securities, joint ventures and 

partnerships, excluding equity method 

investments (Note 5) 
  

11 
  

11 
  

10 
  

10 
  

Long-term debt (Note 8) 
  

(3,377 ) (3,370 ) (3,092 ) (3,196 ) 

Foreign currency forward contracts, net asset 
  

26 
  

26 
  

29 
  

29 
  

Interest rate swap agreements, net liability 
  

(22 ) (22 ) (97 ) (97 ) 
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Current marketable securities are carried at their estimated fair value based on current market quotes. The fair values of certain 

long-term investments are estimated based on quoted market prices for these or similar investments. For other investments, various 

methods are used to estimate fair value, including external valuations and discounted cash flows. The fair value of long-term debt is 

estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or based on the current rates offered to the Company for 

instruments with similar terms, degree of risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of foreign currency forward and interest rate 

swap contracts represents the estimated amount required to settle the contracts using current market exchange or interest rates. The 

carrying values of other financial instruments, such as cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, and accounts payable, 

approximate their fair value. 

  

The Company makes investments, receives revenues and incurs expenses in many countries and has exposure to market risks arising 

from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Company’s ability to sell these investments may be 

constrained by market or other factors. Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge against these risks by creating offsetting 

market positions. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

  

The notional amounts of derivative contracts, summarized below as part of the description of the instruments utilized, do not 

necessarily represent the amounts exchanged by the parties and thus are not necessarily a measure of the exposure of the Company 

resulting from its use of derivatives. The amounts exchanged by the parties are normally calculated on the basis of the notional 

amounts and the other terms of the derivatives. 

  

Foreign Currency Risk 

  

The Company has significant international sales and purchase transactions in foreign currencies. The Company enters into foreign 

currency forward contracts and may enter into currency options with durations of generally less than 30 days to hedge such 

transactions. These derivative instruments are employed to eliminate or minimize certain foreign currency exposures that can be 

confidently identified and quantified. Generally, these instruments are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes 

in the fair value of these instruments are recognized immediately in other income (expense). The Company’s currency hedging 

activities are focused on exchange rate movements, primarily in Canada, Mexico, the United Kingdom, Western European countries 

that use the euro as a common currency, Australia, India, Israel and Switzerland. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had 

forward exchange contracts to purchase various foreign currencies in the amount of $2.6 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively, and to 

sell various foreign currencies in the amount of $0.9 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively. 

  

Interest Rate Risk 

  

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements that convert fixed-rate instruments to variable-rate instruments to manage 

interest rate risk. The derivative financial instruments are designated and documented as fair value hedges at the inception of the 

contract. Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognized in earnings as an offset to changes in fair value of the 

underlying exposure which are also recognized in other income (expense). The impact on earnings from recognizing the fair value of 

these instruments depends on their intended use, their hedge designation, and their effectiveness in offsetting the underlying exposure 

they are designed to hedge. 

  

The Company had interest rate swap fair value hedges outstanding in the notional amount of $1.8 billion in connection with its 

long-term notes payable at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (see Note 8). Under the swaps, the Company receives fixed rates ranging 

from 6.0% to 7.125% and pays floating rates tied to the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”). The weighted-average floating 

rates were 7.25% and 7.64% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the 

Company had $700 million of swaps and related debt which contained the same critical terms. Accordingly, no gain or loss relating to 

the change in fair value of the swap and related hedged item was recognized in earnings. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, $1.1 billion 

of the interest rate swaps contained different terms than the related underlying debt. Accordingly, the Company recognized in earnings 

the change in fair value of the interest rate swap and underlying debt which amounted to gains (losses) of $(9.4) million and $2.8 

million during 2007 and 2006, respectively. Such gains (losses) are included in other income (expense) in the accompanying 

consolidated statements of income. 

  

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Shareholdersô Equity  

  

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in equity during a period, except those resulting from investments by and 

distributions to owners. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive 

loss to net income of net gains (losses) recognized on marketable security transactions were $(7) million and $(3) million, net of the 

related tax expense (benefit) of $(4) million and $(1) million, respectively. There were no such reclassifications for the year ended 

December 31, 2007. 
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Following is a summary of changes within each classification of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

Cumulative 

 Translation 

 Adjustments 
  

Unrealized 

 Gains 

 (Losses) on 

 Securities 
  

Defined 

 Benefit 

 Pension 

 Plans 
  

Accumulated 

 Other 

 Comprehensive 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Balance at December 31, 2005 
  

$ 189 
  

$ (4 ) $ (552 ) $ (367 ) 

Change 
  

313 
  

4 
  

(132 ) 185 
  

Balance at December 31, 2006 
  

502 
  

— 
  

(684 ) (182 ) 

Change 
  

410 
  

— 
  

842 
  

1,252 
  

Balance at December 31, 2007 
  

$ 912 
  

$ — 
  

$ 158 
  

$ 1,070 
  

  

In connection with its employee stock incentive plans, the Company issued 9.7 million, 11.4 million and 4.5 million shares of treasury 

stock at a cost of $265 million, $332 million and $252 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The difference between the 

cost and fair value at the date of issuance of such shares has been recognized as a charge to retained earnings of $69 million, $107 

million and $166 million in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) during 2007, 2006 

and 2005, respectively. 

  

On December 4, 2007, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the Company to repurchase up to $1 billion 

of its outstanding common stock over the next 18 months in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. The Company 

repurchased 2.7 million shares in the open market at a cost of $57 million, before commissions, during the year ended December 31, 

2007 in connection with this share repurchase authorization. 

  

On February 21, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized the Company to repurchase up to $1 billion 

of its outstanding common stock over the next 18 months in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. In connection 

with the share repurchase authorization, on February 23, 2006, the Company entered into a $400 million accelerated share repurchase 

agreement with a financial institution pursuant to which the Company repurchased 15.3 million shares of common stock in the open 

market during the repurchase period which ended on May 31, 2006. The final amount paid under the arrangement was $26.16 per 

share, excluding fees and commissions. The Company also repurchased 10.9 million shares in the open market at a cost of $283 

million, before commissions, during the year ended December 31, 2006. In April 2007, the Company completed the $1 billion share 

repurchase program announced in February 2006. The Company purchased an aggregate of 37.6 million shares of common stock at a 

cost of $1 billion (excluding transaction costs) under this program. 

  

During 2006, cumulative translation adjustments of approximately $40 million were transferred from accumulated other 

comprehensive loss to net income due to the divestitures of certain non-U.S. investments (see Notes 17 and 19). 

  

Income Taxes 

  

The Company provides for deferred taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 

and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable 

income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be reversed. The deferral method is used to account for 

investment tax credits. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount whose realization is more likely 

than not. In determining the recognition of uncertain tax positions, the Company applies a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold 

and determines the measurement of uncertain tax positions considering the amounts and probabilities of the outcomes that could be 

realized upon ultimate settlement with taxing authorities. Income taxes payable are classified in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets based on their estimated payment date. 

  

Statements of Cash Flows 

  

The Company considers the following asset classes with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents: certificates 

of deposit, commercial paper, repurchase agreements and money market funds. 
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Use of Estimates 

  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 

States requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Because of the use of estimates inherent in the financial reporting process, actual 

results could differ from those estimates. Areas in which significant judgments and estimates are used include, but are not limited to, 

cost estimation for Construct Service elements, projected cash flows associated with recoverability of deferred contract costs, contract 

concessions and long-lived assets, liabilities associated with pensions and performance guarantees, receivables collectibility, and loss 

accruals for litigation, exclusive of legal fees which are expensed as services are received. It is reasonably possible that events and 

circumstances could occur in the near term that would cause such estimates to change in a manner that would be material to the 

consolidated financial statements. 

  

Concentration of Credit Risk 

  

Accounts receivable, net, from General Motors (“GM”) and its affiliates totaled $511 million and $342 million as of December 31, 

2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, the Company has several large contracts with major U.S. and foreign corporations, each of 

which may result in the Company carrying a receivable balance between $50 million and $300 million at any point in time. Other than 

operating receivables from GM and aforementioned contracts, concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are 

generally limited due to the large number of clients forming the Company’s client base and their dispersion across different industries 

and geographic areas. 

  

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative contracts. Because the Company 

deals only with major commercial banks with high-quality credit ratings, the Company believes the risk of nonperformance by any of 

these counterparties is remote. 

  

NOTE 2:  MARKETABLE SECURITIES  

  

Following is a summary of current available-for-sale marketable securities at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

    

Amortized 

 Cost 
  

Gross 

 Unrealized 

 Gains 
  

Gross 

 Unrealized 

 Losses 
  

Estimated 

 Fair  Value 
  

Equity securities 
  

$ 54 
  

$ 2 
  

$ (1 ) $ 55 
  

Total current available-for-sale securities 
  

$ 54 
  

$ 2 
  

$ (1 ) $ 55 
  

  

    

2006 
  

    

Amortized 

 Cost 
  

Gross 

 Unrealized 

 Gains 
  

Gross 

 Unrealized 

 Losses 
  

Estimated 

 Fair  Value 
  

Equity securities 
  

$ 45 
  

$ 1 
  

$ (1 ) $ 45 
  

Total current available-for-sale securities 
  

$ 45 
  

$ 1 
  

$ (1 ) $ 45 
  

  

Following is a summary of sales of available-for-sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions). 

Specific identification was used to determine cost in computing realized gain or loss. 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Proceeds from sales 
  

$ — 
  

$ 2,793 
  

$ 1,434 
  

Gross realized gains 
  

— 
  

10 
  

1 
  

Gross realized losses 
  

— 
  

(12 ) (8 ) 
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NOTE 3:  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  

  

Following is a summary of property and equipment, net, at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Land 
  

$ 60 
  

$ 89 
  

Buildings and facilities 
  

1,759 
  

1,460 
  

Computer equipment 
  

4,930 
  

4,586 
  

Other equipment and furniture 
  

449 
  

429 
  

Subtotal 
  

7,198 
  

6,564 
  

Less accumulated depreciation 
  

(4,709 ) (4,385 ) 

Total 
  

$ 2,489 
  

$ 2,179 
  

  

During 2005, the Company sold sixteen domestic and international real estate properties in connection with its efforts to improve its 

cost competitiveness and enhance workplace capacity usage. Net proceeds from the sale were $178 million. Fourteen properties 

involved in the sale have been leased back by the Company for various extended periods. A deferred net gain of $14 million has been 

allocated to the various leased properties and will be recognized by the Company over the respective term of each lease. The Company 

recognized a net gain of $3 million on the sale of the remaining properties which is included in other income in the 2005 consolidated 

statement of income. 

  

NOTE 4:  DEFERRED CONTRACT COSTS 

  

The Company defers certain costs relating to construction and set-up activities on client contracts. Following is a summary of deferred 

costs for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

    

Gross 

 Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Accumulated 

 Amortization  
  

Total 
  

Deferred construct costs 
  

$ 1,479 
  

$ (906 ) $ 573 
  

Deferred set-up costs 
  

752 
  

(341 ) 411 
  

Total 
  

$ 2,231 
  

$ (1,247 ) $ 984 
  

  

    

2006 
  

    

Gross 

 Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Accumulated 

 Amortization  
  

Total 
  

Deferred construct costs 
  

$ 1,321 
  

$ (827 ) $ 494 
  

Deferred set-up costs 
  

590 
  

(277 ) 313 
  

Total 
  

$ 1,911 
  

$ (1,104 ) $ 807 
  

  

Some of the Company’s client contracts require significant investment in the early stages which is expected to be recovered through 

billings over the life of the respective contracts. These contracts often involve the construction of new computer systems and 

communications networks and the development and deployment of new technologies. Substantial performance risk exists in each 

contract with these characteristics, and some or all elements of service delivery under these contracts are dependent upon successful 

completion of the development, construction and deployment phases. At December 31, 2007, approximately $554 million of the 

Company’s net deferred construct and set-up costs related to contracts with active construct activities. The Company normally has 

between 20 to 25 active construct contracts with net deferred costs in excess of $1 million. Some of these contracts have experienced 

delays in their development and construction phases, and certain milestones have been missed. It is reasonably possible that deferred 

costs associated with one or more of these contracts could become impaired due to changes in estimates of future contract cash flows. 

  

During 2005, the Company identified deterioration in the projected performance of one of its commercial contracts based on, among 

other things, a change in management’s judgment regarding the amount and likelihood of achieving anticipated benefits from 

contract-specific productivity initiatives, primarily related to the length of time necessary to achieve cost savings from planned 

infrastructure optimization initiatives. The Company determined that the estimated undiscounted cash flows of the 
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contract over its remaining term were insufficient to recover the contract’s deferred contract costs. As a result, the Company 

recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $37 million in the second quarter of 2005 to write-off the contract’s deferred contract 

costs. The impairment charge is reported as a component of cost of revenues in the 2005 consolidated statement of income and is 

included in the results of the Americas segment. 

  

NOTE 5:  INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 

  

Following is a summary of investments and other assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Leveraged lease investments 
  

$ 73 
  

$ 75 
  

Investments in equipment for lease 
  

151 
  

142 
  

Investments in joint ventures and partnerships 
  

51 
  

44 
  

Deferred pension costs (Note 13) 
  

565 
  

92 
  

Other 
  

259 
  

283 
  

Total 
  

$ 1,099 
  

$ 636 
  

  

The Company holds interests in various equipment leases financed with non-recourse borrowings at lease inception accounted for as 

leveraged leases. The Company’s investment in leveraged leases is comprised of a fiber optic equipment leveraged lease with a 

subsidiary of Verizon signed in 1988. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company receives the investment tax credit (if 

available) at lease inception and has the benefit of tax deductions for depreciation on the leased asset and for interest on the 

non-recourse debt. All non-recourse borrowings have been satisfied in relation to these leases. 

  

The Company holds an equity interest in a partnership which holds leveraged aircraft lease investments. The Company accounts for its 

interest in the partnership under the equity method. The carrying amount of the Company’s remaining equity interest in the partnership 

was $28 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006. Such balances are included in the leveraged lease investments line item of the table 

above. During 2005, the Company recorded write-downs of its investment in the partnership due to uncertainties regarding the 

recoverability of the partnership’s investments in aircraft leased to Delta Air Lines which filed for bankruptcy on September 14, 2005, 

and the proposed sale of certain lease investments in the partnership. These write-downs were partially offset by the accelerated 

recognition of previously deferred investment tax credits associated with the investment. These write-downs totaled $35 million and 

are reflected in other income (expense) in the Company’s 2005 consolidated statement of income. The partnership’s remaining 

leveraged lease investments include leases with American Airlines and one non-U.S. airline. The Company’s ability to recover its 

remaining investment in the partnership is dependent upon the continued payment of rentals by the lessees and the realization of 

expected future aircraft values. In the event such lessees are relieved from their obligation to pay such rentals as a result of 

bankruptcy, the investment in the partnership would be partially or wholly impaired. 

  

Investments in securities, joint ventures and partnerships includes investments accounted for under the equity method of $40 million 

and $34 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company recognized impairment losses totaling $1 million in 2005 

due to other than temporary declines in the fair values of certain non-marketable equity securities. No impairment losses were 

recognized in 2007 or 2006. These losses are reflected in other income (expense) in the Company’s consolidated statements of 

income. 

  

Investments in equipment for lease is comprised of equipment to be leased to clients under long-term IT contracts and net investment 

in leased equipment associated with such contracts. On March 24, 2006, the Company and the Department of the Navy reached an 

agreement on the modification of the NMCI contract which, among other things, extended the contract term from 2007 to 2010 and 

defined the economic lives of certain desktop and infrastructure assets. As a result of the contract modification which changed lease 

payment terms, the Company recognized sales-type capital lease revenue of $116 million associated with certain assets previously 

accounted for as operating leases, and certain assets previously accounted for as capital leases with an aggregate net investment 

balance of $113 million are now being accounted for as operating leases. The net investment in leased equipment associated with the 

NMCI contract was $288 million and $295 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Future minimum lease payments to 

be received under the NMCI contract were $301 million and $314 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The 

unguaranteed residual values accruing to the Company were $13 million and $6 million, and unearned interest income related to these 

leases was $26 million and $25 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The net lease receivable balance is classified as 

components of prepaids and other and investments and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Future minimum lease 

payments to be received were as follows: 2008 – $166 million; 2009 – $96 million; 2010 – $39 million. 

  

During 2006, the Company sold land held for development to a real estate joint venture for cash and a minority equity interest in the 

joint venture. Net proceeds from the sale were $49 million. The Company recognized a net gain of $8 million on the sale which is 

included in other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
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NOTE 6:  GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

  

Following is a summary of changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

(in millions): 

  

    

Americas 
  

EMEA  
  

Asia 

 Pacific 
  

Total 
  

Balance at December 31, 2005 
  

$ 2,365 
  

$ 1,399 
  

$ 68 
  

$ 3,832 
  

Additions 
  

18 
  

— 
  

352 
  

370 
  

Deletions 
  

(1 ) — 
  

— 
  

(1 ) 

Other 
  

1 
  

153 
  

10 
  

164 
  

Balance at December 31, 2006 
  

2,383 
  

1,552 
  

430 
  

4,365 
  

Additions 
  

366 
  

2 
  

41 
  

409 
  

Deletions 
  

(37 ) — 
  

(5 ) (42 ) 

Other 
  

157 
  

152 
  

51 
  

360 
  

Balance at December 31, 2007 
  

$ 2,869 
  

$ 1,706 
  

$ 517 
  

$ 5,092 
  

  

Goodwill additions resulted from acquisitions completed in 2007 and 2006 and include adjustments to the preliminary purchase price 

allocations (see Note 16). Other changes to the carrying amount of goodwill were primarily due to foreign currency translation 

adjustments. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment tests as of December 1, 2007 and 2006. No impairment losses 

were identified as a result of these tests. 

  

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually. All of the 

Company’s intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 had definite useful lives. Following is a summary of intangible assets at 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

    

Gross 

 Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Accumulated 

 Amortization  
  

Total 
  

Definite Useful Lives 
              

Software 
  

$ 2,701 
  

$ (2,078 ) $ 623 
  

Acquisition-related intangibles 
  

453 
  

(223 ) 230 
  

Other 
  

198 
  

(122 ) 76 
  

Total 
  

$ 3,352 
  

$ (2,423 ) $ 929 
  

  

    

2006 
  

    

Gross 

 Carrying  

 Amount 
  

Accumulated 

 Amortization  
  

Total 
  

Definite Useful Lives 
              

Software 
  

$ 2,322 
  

$ (1,771 ) $ 551 
  

Acquisition-related intangibles 
  

333 
  

(181 ) 152 
  

Other 
  

200 
  

(154 ) 46 
  

Total 
  

$ 2,855 
  

$ (2,106 ) $ 749 
  

  

Amortization expense related to intangible assets, including amounts pertaining to discontinued operations, was $450 million and 

$394 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Estimated amortization expense related to intangible 

assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2007 for each of the years in the five-year period ending December 31, 2012 and 

thereafter is (in millions): 2008 – $446; 2009 – $256; 2010 – $123; 2011 – $35; 2012 – $23; and thereafter – $46. 
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NOTE 7:  ACCRUED LIABILITIES  

  

Following is a summary of accrued liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Accrued liabilities relating to: 
          

Contracts 
  

$ 583 
  

$ 674 
  

Payroll 
  

851 
  

815 
  

Property, sales and franchise taxes 
  

256 
  

333 
  

Other 
  

926 
  

867 
  

Total 
  

$ 2,616 
  

$ 2,689 
  

  

NOTE 8:  LONG-TERM DEBT  

  

Following is a summary of long-term debt at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

    

Amount 
  

Weighted- 

 Average 

 Rate 
  

Amount 
  

Weighted- 

Average 

 Rate 
  

Senior notes due 2013 
  

$ 1,090 
  

6.50 % $ 1,089 
  

6.50 % 

Senior notes due 2009 
  

700 
  

7.13 % 700 
  

7.13 % 

Convertible notes due 2023 
  

690 
  

3.88 % 690 
  

3.88 % 

Senior notes due 2029 
  

299 
  

7.45 % 299 
  

7.45 % 

Other, including capital lease obligations 
  

598 
  

— 
  

314 
  

— 
  

Total 
  

3,377 
      

3,092 
      

Less current portion of long-term debt 
  

(168 ) 
    

(127 ) 
    

Long-term debt 
  

$ 3,209 
      

$ 2,965 
      

  

The Company had $1.1 billion aggregate principal amount of 6.0% unsecured Senior Notes due 2013 outstanding at December 31, 

2007. Interest on the notes is payable semiannually. In the event the credit ratings assigned to the notes are below the Baa3 rating of 

Moody’s or the rating BBB– of S&P, the interest rate payable on the notes will be 6.5%. On July 15, 2004, Moody’s lowered the 

Company’s long-term credit rating to Ba1 from Baa3. As a result of Moody’s rating action, the interest rate payable on $1.1 billion of 

the Company’s senior unsecured debt was increased from 6.0% to 6.5%. Further downgrades in the Company’s credit rating will not 

affect this rate. However, in the event the Company’s credit rating is subsequently increased to Baa3 or above by Moody’s and its 

S&P credit rating remains at or above BBB–, this rate will return to 6.0%. The Company may redeem some or all of the notes at any 

time prior to maturity. In conjunction with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a 

notional amount of $1.1 billion under which the Company receives fixed rates of 6.0% and pays floating rates equal to the six-month 

LIBOR (4.596% at December 31, 2007) plus 2.275% to 2.494%. These interest rate swaps are accounted for as fair value hedges (see 

Note 1). 

  

The Company had $690 million aggregate principal amount of 3.875% unsecured Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 outstanding at 

December 31, 2007. Interest on the notes is payable semiannually. Contingent interest is payable during any six-month period 

beginning July 2010 in which the average trading price of a note for the applicable five trading day reference period equals or exceeds 

120% of the principal amount of the note as of the day immediately preceding the first day of the applicable six-month period. The 

five trading day reference period means the five trading days ending on the second trading day immediately preceding the relevant 

six-month interest period. The notes are convertible by holders into shares of the Company’s common stock at an initial conversion 

rate of 29.2912 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount, representing an initial conversion price of $34.14 per share of 

common stock, under the following circumstances: a) during any calendar quarter, if the last reported sale price of EDS common stock 

for at least 20 trading days during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the previous calendar 

quarter is greater than or equal to 120% or, following July 15, 2010, 110% of the conversion price per share of EDS common stock on 

such last trading day; b) if the notes have been called for redemption; c) during any period in which the credit ratings assigned to the 

notes by either Moody’s or S&P is lower than Ba2 or BB, respectively, or the notes are no longer rated by at least one of these rating 

services or their successors; or d) upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions. The Company may redeem for cash some or 

all of the notes at any time on or after July 15, 2010. Holders have the right to require the Company to purchase the notes at a price 

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued interest, including contingent interest and additional amounts, if any, 

on July 15, 2010, July 15, 2013 and July 15, 2018, or upon a fundamental change in the Company’s ownership, control or the 

marketability of the Company’s common stock prior to July 15, 2010. 
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During 1999, the Company completed the public offering of senior notes in the principal amount of $1.5 billion. These notes included 

$500 million of 6.85% notes that matured on October 15, 2004, $700 million of 7.125% notes that mature in 2009, and $300 million 

of 7.45% notes that mature in 2029. The balance of the 7.45% notes was $299 million at December 31, 2007. 

  

On June 30, 2006, the Company entered into a $1 billion Five Year Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a bank group 

including Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent. The Credit 

Agreement may be used for general corporate borrowing purposes and issuance of letters of credit, with a $500 million sub-limit for 

letters of credit. The Credit Agreement contains certain financial and other restrictive covenants with which non-compliance would 

allow any amounts outstanding to be accelerated and would prohibit further borrowings. The Company pays an annual facility fee 

based on a percentage of the $1 billion commitment (0.125% at December 31, 2007). No amounts were outstanding under the Credit 

Agreement at December 31, 2007 or 2006. The Company anticipates utilizing the Credit Agreement principally for the issuance of 

letters of credit which aggregated approximately $184 million at December 31, 2007. The issuance of letters of credit under the Credit 

Agreement utilizes availability under the Credit Agreement. 

  

The Company’s Credit Agreement and the indentures governing its long-term notes contain certain financial and other restrictive 

covenants that would allow any amounts outstanding under the facilities to be accelerated, or restrict the Company’s ability to borrow 

thereunder, in the event of noncompliance. The Company was in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2007. 

  

In addition to compliance with these financial covenants, it is a condition to the Company’s ability to borrow under its Credit 

Agreement that certain of its representations and warranties under that agreement be true and correct as of the date of the borrowing. 

The Company’s Credit Agreement, the indentures governing its long-term notes and certain other debt instruments also contain 

cross-default provisions with respect to a default in any payment under, or events resulting in or permitting the acceleration of, 

indebtedness greater than $50 million. 

  

Expected maturities of long-term debt for years subsequent to December 31, 2007 are as follows (in millions): 

  

2008 
  

$ 168 
  

2009 
  

839 
  

2010 
  

771 
  

2011 
  

51 
  

2012 
  

30 
  

Thereafter 
  

1,518 
  

Total 
  

$ 3,377 
  

  

NOTE 9:  MINORITY INTERESTS AND OTHER LONG -TERM LIABILITIES  

  

Other long-term liabilities were $245 million and $305 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Other long-term 

liabilities include liabilities related to the Company’s purchased or licensed software, tax liabilities and interest rate swap agreements. 

Minority interests were $174 million and $150 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The increase in minority 

interests in 2007 was primarily due to the Company’s ownership interest in MphasiS (see Note 16). 

  

NOTE 10:  INCOME TAXES  

  

Following is a summary of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 360 
  

$ 257 
  

$ 153 
  

Loss from discontinued operations 
  

(9 ) (26 ) (38 ) 

Shareholders’ equity 
  

518 
  

34 
  

(101 ) 

Total 
  

$ 869 
  

$ 265 
  

$ 14 
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Following is a summary of the provision for income taxes on income from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 

2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

United States 
          

    

Federal 
  

State 
  

Non-U.S. 
  

Total 
  

2007 
                  

Current 
  

$ 123 
  

$ 22 
  

$ 114 
  

$ 259 
  

Deferred 
  

55 
  

(18 ) 64 
  

101 
  

Total 
  

$ 178 
  

$ 4 
  

$ 178 
  

$ 360 
  

                    

2006 
                  

Current 
  

$ 91 
  

$ 22 
  

$ 226 
  

$ 339 
  

Deferred 
  

(116 ) (9 ) 43 
  

(82 ) 

Total 
  

$ (25 ) $ 13 
  

$ 269 
  

$ 257 
  

                    

2005 
                  

Current 
  

$ 127 
  

$ 13 
  

$ 87 
  

$ 227 
  

Deferred 
  

(233 ) (29 ) 188 
  

(74 ) 

Total 
  

$ (106 ) $ (16 ) $ 275 
  

$ 153 
  

  

Following is a summary of the components of income from continuing operations before income taxes for the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

        

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

U.S. income 
      

$ 261 
  

$ 75 
  

$ (170 ) 

Non-U.S. income 
      

828 
  

681 
  

609 
  

Total 
      

$ 1,089 
  

$ 756 
  

$ 439 
  

  

Following is a reconciliation of income tax expense using the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 35.0% to actual income tax 

expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

        

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Statutory federal income tax 
      

$ 381 
  

$ 265 
  

$ 154 
  

State income tax, net 
      

3 
  

8 
  

(10 ) 

Foreign losses 
      

19 
  

50 
  

75 
  

Research tax credits 
      

(45 ) (29 ) (54 ) 

Tax reserves 
      

(15 ) (48 ) (7 ) 

Foreign tax rate change 
      

29 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Other 
      

(12 ) 11 
  

(5 ) 

Total 
      

$ 360 
  

$ 257 
  

$ 153 
  

Effective income tax rate 
      

33.1 % 34.0 % 34.9 % 

  

Following is a summary of the tax effects of significant types of temporary differences and carryforwards which result in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

    

Assets 
  

Liabilities  
  

Assets 
  

Liabilities  
  

Leasing basis differences 
  

$ — 
  

$ 100 
  

$ — 
  

$ 111 
  

Other accrual accounting differences 
  

385 
  

15 
  

429 
  

10 
  

Employee benefit plans 
  

212 
  

200 
  

352 
  

31 
  

Depreciation/amortization differences 
  

447 
  

618 
  

387 
  

404 
  

U.S. tax on foreign income 
  

— 
  

196 
  

— 
  

248 
  

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 
  

1,283 
  

— 
  

1,432 
  

— 
  

Employee-related compensation 
  

315 
  

7 
  

312 
  

3 
  

Currency translation adjustment 
  

— 
  

205 
  

— 
  

70 
  

Other 
  

194 
  

191 
  

174 
  

145 
  

Subtotal 
  

2,836 
  

1,532 
  

3,086 
  

1,022 
  

Less valuation allowances 
  

(428 ) — 
  

(376 ) — 
  



Total deferred taxes 
  

$ 2,408 
  

$ 1,532 
  

$ 2,710 
  

$ 1,022 
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The net changes in the valuation allowances for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were increases of $52 million and $95 

million, respectively. Of the net change in 2007 and 2006, $17 million and $40 million, respectively, was due to an increase in 

valuation allowances for losses incurred in certain foreign tax jurisdictions, which increased current year income tax expense from 

continuing operations. The remaining change in the valuation allowance in 2007 was primarily due to foreign currency translation 

adjustments. The remaining change in the valuation allowance in 2006 was primarily due to the sale of A.T. Kearney in January 2006 

(see Note 17) and foreign currency translation adjustments. Approximately two-thirds of the Company’s net operating loss and tax 

carryforwards expire over various periods from 2008 through 2027, and the remainder are unlimited. 

  

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all 

of the deferred tax assets will not be realized and adjusts the valuation allowance accordingly. Factors considered in making this 

determination include the period of expiration of the tax asset, planned use of the tax asset, tax planning strategies and historical and 

projected taxable income as well as tax liabilities for the tax jurisdiction in which the tax asset is located. The ultimate realization of 

deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences 

become deductible. Based on tax planning strategies, the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income 

over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, the Company believes it is more likely than not it will realize the 

benefits of the deductible differences, net of existing valuation allowances at December 31, 2007. The amount of the deferred tax asset 

considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period 

are reduced. 

  

U.S. income taxes have not been provided for on $885 million of undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, as such 

earnings have been permanently reinvested in the business. As of December 31, 2007, the unrecognized deferred tax liability 

associated with these earnings amounted to approximately $125 million. 

  

The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 

Taxes ï an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 , effective January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in 

income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,  

Accounting for Income Taxes , and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement disclosure of 

tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized an 

increase of $2 million in net unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a decrease of $17 million to the January 1, 2007 

balance of retained earnings and a decrease of $15 million to the balance of goodwill. In addition, reclassifications in balance sheet 

accounts as required by FIN 48 resulted in a decrease in deferred tax assets of $57 million and a decrease in other long-term liabilities 

of $57 million. As of the date of adoption, the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $127 million. Of this amount, $82 

million represents the net unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably impact the effective income tax rate. 

  

At December 31, 2007, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $165 million. If recognized, $73 million of this amount 

represents the net unrecognized tax benefits that would favorably impact the effective income tax rate. A reconciliation of the 

beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in millions): 

  

Balance at January 1, 2007 
  

$ 127 
  

Additions: 
      

For current year’s tax positions 
  

10 
  

For prior year’s tax positions 
  

57 
  

Reductions: 
      

For positions taken during a prior period 
  

(5 ) 

Statute of limitation expiration 
  

(17 ) 

Settlements with taxing authorities 
  

(7 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2007 
  

$ 165 
  

  

The Company recognizes potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The amount 

recognized for the year ended December 31, 2007 was immaterial. As of December 31, 2007, $7 million is accrued for the payment of 

interest and penalties related to income tax liabilities. 

  

The Company files numerous income tax returns in various jurisdictions including U.S. Federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. The 

Company is subject to U.S. Federal income tax examinations for years after 2002 and is subject to income tax examinations by U.K. 

tax authorities for years after 2005. 

  

The Company anticipates settling approximately $12 million of liabilities over the next 12 months, primarily related to various 

settlements with various U.S. state tax jurisdictions, at amounts that are not significantly different from the amounts currently accrued. 

In addition, due to the ongoing nature of current examinations in various jurisdictions, other changes could occur in the amount of 

gross unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months which cannot be estimated at this time. 
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NOTE 11:  STOCK PURCHASE AND INCENTIVE PLANS  

  

Stock Purchase Plan 

  

Under the Stock Purchase Plan, eligible employees may purchase EDS common stock at the end of each fiscal quarter at a purchase 

price equal to 85% of the lower of the market price on the first or last trading day of the quarter, through payroll deductions of up to 

10% of their compensation, not to exceed $25,000 per year in market value. Shares of EDS common stock purchased under the plan 

may not be sold or transferred within one year of the date of purchase. The number of shares originally authorized for issuance under 

this plan is 57.5 million. Total compensation expense recognized under this plan was $6 million during each of the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

  

PerformanceShare and EDS Global Share Plans 

  

PerformanceShare and Global Share are “broad-based” plans that permit the grant of stock options to any eligible employee of EDS or 

its participating subsidiaries other than executive officers. As of December 31, 2007, options for 16.0 million shares had been granted 

under PerformanceShare (principally in a broad-based grant in May 1997) and options for 25.9 million shares had been granted under 

Global Share (principally in two broad-based grants in July 2000 and February 2002). The number of shares originally authorized for 

issuance under PerformanceShare and Global Share is 20 million and 27 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, no shares 

were available for future issuance under these plans. 

  

Incentive Plan 

  

The Incentive Plan is authorized to issue up to 136.5 million shares of common stock. The Incentive Plan permits the granting of 

stock-based awards in the form of stock grants, restricted shares, restricted stock units, stock options or stock appreciation rights to 

eligible employees and non-employee directors. A restricted stock unit is the right to receive shares. The exercise price for stock 

options granted under this plan must be equal to or greater than the fair market value on the date of the grant. 

  

Transition Inducement Plan 

  

The Transition Inducement Plan permits awards in the form of nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock 

units, restricted stock awards or stock grants to eligible employees. This plan was adopted in October 2002 in anticipation of then 

proposed New York Stock Exchange rules which provide that awards issued to induce new employment or in exchange for awards 

under an “acquired” plan are not subject to shareholder approval. All options granted under this plan must have an exercise price not 

less than the fair market value per share of common stock on the grant date. The maximum number of shares that can be issued under 

this plan is 7.0 million, of which not more than 2.0 million are available for awards other than in the form of stock options. 

  

Stock Options 

  

The fair value of each stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model that uses 

the assumptions noted below. Estimates of fair value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by 

employees who receive equity awards, and subsequent events are not indicative of the reasonableness of the original estimates of fair 

value made by the Company under SFAS No. 123R. The vesting period for most new option awards is three years and the contractual 

term is seven years. The outstanding term of an option is estimated using a simplified method, which is the average of the vesting term 

and contractual term of the option. Expected volatility during the estimated outstanding term of the option is based on historical 

volatility during a period equivalent to the estimated outstanding term of the option and implied volatility as determined based on 

observed market prices of the Company’s publicly traded options. Expected dividends during the estimated outstanding term of the 

option are based on recent dividend activity. Risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the 

grant. The weighted-average fair values of options granted were $7.86, $8.87 and $10.46 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 

2006 and 2005, respectively. The fair value of each option was estimated at the date of grant, with the following weighted-average 

assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively: dividend yields of 0.8%, 0.7% and 1.0%; expected 

volatility of 31.4%, 35.0% and 60.3%; risk-free interest rate of 4.3%, 4.7% and 4.1%; and expected lives of 4.8 years, 5.0 years and 

5.0 years. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $61 million, 

$115 million and $23 million, respectively, resulting in tax deductions of $21 million, $40 million and $8 million, respectively. During 

2005, the Company issued new shares and utilized treasury shares to satisfy share option exercises and the vesting of restricted share 

awards. The Company plans to utilize treasury shares acquired under the repurchase programs authorized in February 2006 and 

December 2007 to satisfy future share option exercises and the vesting of restricted share awards (see Note 1). 
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Following is a summary of options activity under the Company’s various stock-based incentive compensation plans during the years 

ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005: 

  

    

Shares 

 (millions) 
  

Weighted- 

 Average 

 Exercise 

 Price 
  

Fixed options: 
          

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 
  

70.9 
  

$ 31 
  

Granted 
  

1.5 
  

20 
  

Exercised 
  

(4.7 ) 17 
  

Forfeited and expired 
  

(15.8 ) 51 
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 
  

51.9 
  

26 
  

Granted 
  

1.8 
  

27 
  

Exercised 
  

(14.5 ) 18 
  

Forfeited and expired 
  

(4.2 ) 37 
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 
  

35.0 
  

28 
  

Granted 
  

2.6 
  

27 
  

Exercised 
  

(6.9 ) 19 
  

Forfeited and expired 
  

(2.8 ) 42 
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 
  

27.9 
  

28 
  

Exercisable 
  

21.6 
  

29 
  

              

  

At December 31, 2007, the weighted-average remaining contractual terms of outstanding and exercisable options were 4.1 years and 

3.7 years, respectively, and the aggregate intrinsic values of these options were $27 million and $26 million, respectively. Total 

compensation expense recognized for stock options was $27 million ($21 million net of tax), $117 million ($79 million net of tax) and 

$154 million ($106 million net of tax) during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As of December 31, 

2007, there was approximately $20 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested options, which is expected to be 

recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years. 

  

The Company receives a tax deduction equal to the intrinsic value of a stock option on the date of exercise. Cash retained as a result of 

this tax deductibility is reported as other cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

  

Certain stock option grants contain market conditions that accelerate vesting if the Company’s stock reaches target prices. All such 

options have vested as of December 31, 2007. During 2007, approximately 3.3 million outstanding stock options became exercisable 

when the Company’s stock reached certain target prices, accelerating the recognition of compensation expense of approximately $8 

million. During 2006, approximately 7.6 million outstanding stock options became exercisable when the Company’s stock reached 

certain target prices, accelerating the recognition of compensation expense of approximately $25 million. 

  

Restricted Stock Units 

  

The Company began using restricted stock units as its primary stock-based incentive compensation in March 2005. Prior to such time, 

stock options were primarily used for stock-based incentive compensation. Restricted stock units granted are generally scheduled to 

vest over periods of three to four years. The March 2007, 2006 and 2005 grants consisted primarily of performance-vesting restricted 

stock units. The number of awards that vest is dependent upon the Company’s performance over a three-year period with vesting 

thereafter. 

  

The fair value of each restricted stock unit is generally the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. However, if the 

shares have a mandatory holding period after the date of vesting, a discount is provided based on the length of the holding period. A 

discount was applied in determining the fair value of all restricted stock unit awards to adjust for the present value of foregone 

dividends during the period the award is outstanding and unvested. An additional discount of 10%, 10% and 15% was applied during 

2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in determining the fair value of all units subject to transfer restrictions for a one-year period 

following vesting. This transferability discount was derived based on the value of a one-year average-strike lookback put option. 
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Following is a summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted stock units as of December 31, 2007, and changes during 

the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005: 

  

    

Shares 

 (millions) 
  

Weighted- 

 Average 

 Grant  Date 

 Fair  Value 
  

Nonvested restricted stock units: 
          

Nonvested at December 31, 2004 
  

3.5 
  

$ 33 
  

Granted 
  

7.3 
  

19 
  

Vested 
  

(1.5 ) 34 
  

Forfeited 
  

(0.4 ) 18 
  

Nonvested at December 31, 2005 
  

8.9 
  

22 
  

Granted 
  

7.1 
  

25 
  

Vested 
  

(1.2 ) 30 
  

Forfeited 
  

(1.4 ) 22 
  

Nonvested at December 31, 2006 
  

13.4 
  

23 
  

Granted 
  

8.9 
  

25 
  

Vested 
  

(1.0 ) 26 
  

Forfeited 
  

(2.3 ) 23 
  

Nonvested at December 31, 2007 
  

19.0 
  

24 
  

              

  

As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $212 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 

restricted stock units. Such cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years. Total compensation expense 

for restricted stock units was $117 million ($77 million net of tax), $86 million ($59 million net of tax) and $64 million ($42 million 

net of tax), respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The aggregate fair value of shares vested during the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $26 million, $33 million and $33 million, respectively, at the date of vesting, 

resulting in tax deductions to realize benefits of $9 million, $10 million and $12 million, respectively, as compared to aggregate fair 

values of $27 million, $38 million and $52 million, respectively, on the dates of their grants. 

  

Executive Deferral Plan 

  

The Executive Deferral Plan is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan established for a select group of management and highly 

compensated employees which allows participants to contribute a percentage of their cash compensation and restricted stock units into 

the plan and defer income taxes until the time of distribution. The plan is a nonqualified plan for U.S. federal income tax purposes and 

as such, its assets are part of the Company’s general assets. The Company makes matching contributions on a portion of amounts 

deferred by plan participants that are invested in EDS stock units. Matching contributions vest upon contribution. The fair market 

price of common stock on the date of matching contributions is charged to operations in the period made. The Company also makes 

discretionary contributions that vest over periods up to five years as determined by the Board of Directors. The fair market price of 

common stock on the date of discretionary contributions is charged to operations over the vesting period. During the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, employer contributions to the plan were 7 thousand, 4 thousand and 31 thousand shares, 

respectively, with a weighted-average fair value of $27.50, $24.06 and $23.13, respectively. 

  

During September 2006, the Company granted 150 thousand time-vesting deferred stock units and 150 thousand performance-based 

deferred stock units to an employee each with a grant date fair value of $22.97 per unit. The grant date fair value of deferred stock 

units is determined using the same method as restricted stock units. The time-vesting units and performance-based units are scheduled 

to vest in September 2009. The number of performance-based deferred stock units that will vest will be from 0-200% of the number of 

units granted, and is dependent upon the Company’s achievement of certain financial performance metrics over a three-year 

performance period and the employee’s continued employment. The Company estimates the number of units that will vest based on 

the Company’s financial performance since inception of the performance period and current expectations of the Company’s future 

financial performance over the remainder of the performance period. Compensation expense for units is recorded on a straight-line 

basis over the vesting period. Cumulative compensation expense for each grant is adjusted in the period in which there is a change in 

the estimated number of units that will vest. As of December 31, 2007, there was approximately $4 million of total unrecognized 

compensation cost related to the 300 thousand nonvested deferred stock units. Such cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 

1.7 years. Total compensation expense for deferred stock units was $2.3 million ($1.5 million net of tax) and $0.8 million ($0.5 

million net of tax) for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

  

On February 13, 2008, the Company issued 3.9 million time-vesting restricted stock units, 3.8 million performance-based restricted 

stock units and 3.5 million stock options in the 2008 annual long-term incentive grant. Eligible employees, other than senior 

executives, received one-half of the annual award in time-vesting restricted stock units and one-half in performance-basedrestricted 

stock units. The time-vesting restricted stock units will vest over three years. The performance-based restricted stock units will vest 



after three years, and the number of awards will vary based on performance over the three-year period ended 
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December 31, 2010.  Senior executives received stock options as well as time-vesting restricted stock units and performance-based 

restricted stock units, with the stock options intended to represent approximately one-half in value of their total long-term incentive 

awards and the time-vesting restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units each intended to represent 

approximately 25% of the total value of the awards.  The options will vest after three years and have an exercise price of $18.295, and 

the restricted stock units have vesting terms similar to those described above. 

  

NOTE 12:  SEGMENT INFORMATION  

  

The Company uses operating income (loss) to measure segment profit or loss. Segment information for non-U.S. operations is 

measured using fixed currency exchange rates in all periods presented. The Company adjusts its fixed currency exchange rates if and 

when the statutory rate differs significantly from the fixed rate to better align the two rates. Prior period segment information 

presented below has been restated to reflect a change in the fixed exchange rates of certain non-U.S. currencies and other segment 

attribute changes in 2007. The “all other” category is primarily comprised of corporate expenses, including stock-based compensation, 

and also includes differences between fixed and actual exchange rates. 

  

Following is a summary of certain financial information by reportable segment as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 

and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

  

  

Revenues 
  

Operating 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Total 

 Assets 
  

Americas 
  

$ 10,403 
  

$ 1,584 
  

$ 4,720 
  

EMEA 
  

6,433 
  

1,002 
  

3,364 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

1,800 
  

188 
  

1,026 
  

U.S. Government 
  

2,576 
  

528 
  

1,749 
  

Other 
  

5 
  

(1,027 ) 1,628 
  

Total Outsourcing 
  

21,217 
  

2,275 
  

12,487 
  

All other 
  

917 
  

(1,143 ) 6,737 
  

Total 
  

$ 22,134 
  

$ 1,132 
  

$ 19,224 
  

  

    

2006 
  

    

Revenues 
  

Operating 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Total 

 Assets 
  

Americas 
  

$ 10,584 
  

$ 1,673 
  

$ 4,776 
  

EMEA 
  

6,470 
  

930 
  

3,355 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

1,490 
  

163 
  

1,019 
  

U.S. Government 
  

2,520 
  

409 
  

1,125 
  

Other 
  

3 
  

(1,053 ) 1,516 
  

Total Outsourcing 
  

21,067 
  

2,122 
  

11,791 
  

All other 
  

201 
  

(1,306 ) 6,163 
  

Total 
  

$ 21,268 
  

$ 816 
  

$ 17,954 
  

  

    

2005 
  

    

Revenues 
  

Operating 

 Income 

 (Loss) 
  

Total 

 Assets 
  

Americas 
  

$ 10,156 
  

$ 1,579 
  

$ 4,730 
  

EMEA 
  

5,956 
  

800 
  

3,570 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

1,384 
  

90 
  

535 
  

U.S. Government 
  

2,093 
  

98 
  

1,178 
  

Other 
  

1 
  

(946 ) 1,419 
  

Total Outsourcing 
  

19,590 
  

1,621 
  

11,432 
  

All other 
  

167 
  

(1,079 ) 5,655 
  

Total 
  

$ 19,757 
  

$ 542 
  

$ 17,087 
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Following is a summary of depreciation and amortization and deferred cost charges included in the calculation of operating income 

(loss) above for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Americas 
  

$ 442 
  

$ 437 
  

$ 439 
  

EMEA 
  

363 
  

388 
  

339 
  

Asia Pacific 
  

126 
  

104 
  

101 
  

U.S. Government 
  

118 
  

151 
  

111 
  

Other 
  

216 
  

152 
  

174 
  

Total Outsourcing 
  

1,265 
  

1,232 
  

1,164 
  

All other 
  

176 
  

105 
  

208 
  

Total 
  

$ 1,441 
  

$ 1,337 
  

$ 1,372 
  

  

Following is a summary of revenues and property and equipment by country as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 

and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

    

Revenues 
  

Property 

 and 

 Equipment 
  

Revenues 
  

Property 

 and 

 Equipment 
  

Revenues 
  

Property 

 and 

 Equipment 
  

United States 
  

$ 11,044 
  

$ 1,432 
  

$ 11,148 
  

$ 1,223 
  

$ 10,349 
  

$ 1,153 
  

United Kingdom 
  

4,057 
  

277 
  

4,213 
  

322 
  

3,696 
  

325 
  

All other 
  

7,033 
  

780 
  

5,907 
  

634 
  

5,712 
  

489 
  

Total 
  

$ 22,134 
  

$ 2,489 
  

$ 21,268 
  

$ 2,179 
  

$ 19,757 
  

$ 1,967 
  

  

Revenues and property and equipment of non-U.S. operations are measured using fixed currency exchange rates in all periods 

presented. Differences between fixed and actual exchange rates are included in the “all other” category. 

  

Following is a summary of the Company’s revenues by service line for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in 

millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Infrastructure services 
  

$ 11,496 
  

$ 12,060 
  

$ 11,133 
  

Applications services 
  

6,439 
  

5,972 
  

5,638 
  

Business process outsourcing services 
  

3,147 
  

3,017 
  

2,855 
  

All other 
  

1,052 
  

219 
  

131 
  

Total 
  

$ 22,134 
  

$ 21,268 
  

$ 19,757 
  

  

Revenues of non-U.S. operations are measured using fixed currency exchange rates in all periods presented. Differences between 

fixed and actual exchange rates are included in the “all other” category. 

  

NOTE 13:  RETIREMENT PLANS  

  

The Company has several qualified and nonqualified pension plans (the “Plans”) covering substantially all its employees. The 

majority of the Plans are noncontributory. In general, employees become fully vested upon attaining two to five years of service, and 

benefits are based on years of service and earnings. The actuarial cost method currently used is the projected unit credit cost method. 

The Company’s U.S. funding policy is to contribute amounts that fall within the range of deductible contributions for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes. 
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Following is a reconciliation of the changes in the Plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets (using October 31, 2007 and 2006 

measurement dates), and a statement of the funded status as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Reconciliation of Benefit Obligation: 
          

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 
  

$ 9,360 
  

$ 8,310 
  

Service cost 
  

382 
  

354 
  

Interest cost 
  

527 
  

471 
  

Employee contributions 
  

13 
  

25 
  

Actuarial (gain) loss 
  

(422 ) 81 
  

Curtailments and settlements 
  

26 
  

(69 ) 

Plan amendments 
  

— 
  

(57 ) 

Business acquisitions and divestitures 
  

22 
  

(46 ) 

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 
  

237 
  

500 
  

Benefit payments 
  

(280 ) (237 ) 

Special termination benefit 
  

157 
  

— 
  

Other 
  

42 
  

28 
  

Benefit obligation at end of year 
  

10,064 
  

9,360 
  

            

Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets: 
          

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 
  

7,910 
  

6,404 
  

Actual return on plan assets 
  

1,560 
  

1,185 
  

Foreign currency exchange rate changes 
  

172 
  

355 
  

Employer contributions 
  

213 
  

248 
  

Employee contributions 
  

13 
  

25 
  

Benefit payments 
  

(280 ) (237 ) 

Business acquisitions and divestitures 
  

2 
  

(66 ) 

Settlements 
  

(3 ) (18 ) 

Other 
  

— 
  

14 
  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 
  

9,587 
  

7,910 
  

Funded status at end of year 
  

(477 ) (1,450 ) 

Adjustments from October 31 to December 31 
  

22 
  

112 
  

  

  

$ (455 ) $ (1,338 ) 

  

Following is a summary of the amounts reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets for pension benefits as of 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Prepaid benefit cost 
  

$ 565 
  

$ 86 
  

Current liability 
  

(48 ) (36 ) 

Long-term liability 
  

(972 ) (1,388 ) 
  

  

$ (455 ) $ (1,338 ) 

  

Following is a summary of amounts in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of shareholders’ equity as of 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 that have not yet been recognized in the consolidated statements of income as components of net 

periodic benefit cost, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2007 (in millions): 

  

    

2006 
  

Net 

 Periodic 

 Benefit 

 Cost 
  

Items 

 Arising 

 During 

 Year 
  

Net 

 Change in 

 Shareholdersô 

 Equity  
  

2007 
  

Net actuarial (gain) loss 
  

$ 1,199 
  

$ (29 ) $ (1,245 ) $ (1,274 ) $ (75 ) 

Prior service credit 
  

(213 ) 37 
  

2 
  

39 
  

(174 ) 

Transition obligation 
  

7 
  

(2 ) 1 
  

(1 ) 6 
  

  

  

993 
  

6 
  

(1,242 ) (1,236 ) (243 ) 

Tax effect 
  

(309 ) (2 ) 396 
  

394 
  

85 
  

Total 
  

$ 684 
  

$ 4 
  

$ (846 ) $ (842 ) $ (158 ) 
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The tables above include plans that transitioned to A.T. Kearney in January 2006 (see Note 17). The pension benefit liabilities related 

to these plans are presented in the consolidated balance sheets as “held for sale” and was $26 million at December 31, 2005. 

Settlement gains of $23 million were recognized in 2006 for these plans. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit 

obligation, and fair value of plan assets for these plans were $63 million, $54 million and $61 million, respectively, at December 31, 

2005. Net periodic benefit cost for these plans was $8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. 

  

The Company has additional defined benefit retirement plans outside the U.S. not included in the tables above due to their individual 

insignificance. These plans collectively represent an additional pension benefit liability of approximately $16 million and plan assets 

of approximately $4 million. 

  

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $9,420 million and $8,513 million at October 31, 2007 

and 2006, respectively. The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with projected benefit 

obligations in excess of plan assets were $4,613 million and $3,577 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007, and $8,713 million 

and $7,251 million, respectively, at December 31, 2006. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair 

value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $1,168 million, $1,114 

million and $295 million, respectively, at December 31, 2007, and $3,326 million, $2,795 million and $1,995 million, respectively, at 

December 31, 2006. 

  

Following is a summary of the components of net periodic benefit cost recognized in the consolidated statements of income for the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Service cost 
  

$ 382 
  

$ 354 
  

$ 344 
  

Interest cost 
  

527 
  

471 
  

456 
  

Expected return on plan assets 
  

(686 ) (555 ) (522 ) 

Amortization of transition obligation 
  

2 
  

2 
  

2 
  

Amortization of prior-service cost 
  

(37 ) (36 ) (32 ) 

Amortization of net actuarial loss 
  

29 
  

83 
  

55 
  

Net periodic benefit cost 
  

217 
  

319 
  

303 
  

Curtailment (gain) loss 
  

(7 ) (5 ) 1 
  

Special termination benefit 
  

150 
  

— 
  

15 
  

Settlement (gain) loss 
  

(2 ) (57 ) 71 
  

Net periodic benefit cost after curtailments and settlements 
  

$ 358 
  

$ 257 
  

$ 390 
  

  

Prior-service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active participants. Gains or 

losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the market-related value of assets are amortized over the average 

remaining service period of active participants. 

  

The estimated net actuarial loss, prior service credit and transition obligation for defined benefit plans that will be amortized from 

accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $6 million, $36 million and $2 

million, respectively. 

  

As a result of the termination of the Company’s service contract with the U.K. Government’s Inland Revenue department, the 

contract’s workforce transitioned to the new IT provider in July 2004. Most of the pension liability associated with this workforce also 

transitioned to the new provider, resulting in the recognition of a settlement loss of $77 million in 2005. The Company recorded 

special termination benefits of $7 million and $15 million during 2007 and 2005, respectively, related to reductions in force in the 

U.K., and $143 million during 2007 related to an early retirement offer in the U.S. (see Note 19). 

  

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the plan assets consisted primarily of equity securities and, to a lesser extent, government obligations 

and other fixed income securities. The plan assets include EDS common stock with a market value of approximately $13 million at 

October 31, 2007. The U.S. pension plan is a cash balance plan that uses a benefit formula based on years of service, age and earnings. 

Employees are allocated the current value of their retirement benefit in a hypothetical account. Monthly credits based upon age, years 

of service, compensation and interest are added to the account. Upon retirement, the value of the account balance is converted to an 

annuity. The Company allows employees to elect to direct up to 33% of their monthly credits to the EDS 401(k) Plan. The Company 

contributed $4 million, $3 million and $4 million to the EDS 401(k) Plan related to these elections during the years ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts are not included in net periodic benefit cost shown in the table 

above. 
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Following is a summary of the weighted-average assumptions used in the determination of the Company’s benefit obligation for the 

years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005: 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Discount rate at October 31 
  

5.9 % 5.4 % 5.4 % 

Rate increase in compensation levels at October 31 
  

3.2 % 3.2 % 3.2 % 

  

Following is a summary of the weighted-average assumptions used in the determination of the Company’s net periodic benefit cost for 

the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005: 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Discount rate at October 31 
  

5.4 % 5.4 % 6.0 % 

Rate increase in compensation levels at October 31 
  

3.2 % 3.2 % 3.4 % 

Long-term rate of return on assets at January 1 
  

8.5 % 8.4 % 8.6 % 

  

Following is a summary of the weighted-average asset allocation of all plan assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, by asset category: 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

Equity securities 
  

77 % 78 % 

Debt securities 
  

13 % 14 % 

Cash and cash equivalents 
  

1 % 1 % 

Real estate 
  

1 % 1 % 

Other 
  

8 % 6 % 

Total 
  

100 % 100 % 

  

In determining net periodic benefit cost recognized in its consolidated statements of income, the Company utilizes an expected 

long-term rate of return that, over time, should approximate the actual long-term returns earned on pension plan assets. The Company 

derives the assumed long-term rate of return on assets based upon the historical return of actual plan assets and the historical 

long-term return on similar asset classes as well as anticipated future returns based upon the types of invested assets. The type and mix 

of invested assets are determined by the pension investment strategy, which considers the average age of the Company’s workforce 

and associated average periods until retirement. Since the average age of the Company’s workforce is relatively low and average 

periods until retirement exceed 15 years, plan assets are weighted heavily towards equity investments. Equity investments, while 

susceptible to significant short-term fluctuations, have historically outperformed most other investment alternatives on a long-term 

basis. The Company utilizes an active management strategy through third-party investment managers to maximize asset returns. As of 

December 31, 2007, the weighted-average target asset allocation for all plans was 76% equity; 15% fixed income; 1% cash and cash 

equivalents; 1% real estate; and 7% other. The Company expects to contribute approximately $130 million to its pension plans during 

fiscal year 2008, including discretionary and statutory contributions. 

  

Estimated benefit payments, which include amounts to be earned by active plan employees through expected future service for all 

pension plans over the next 10 years are: 2008 – $318 million; 2009 – $259 million; 2010 – $280 million; 2011 – $309 million; 2012 – 

$337 million; and 2013 through 2017 – $2,045 million. 

  

In addition to the plans described above, the EDS 401(k) Plan provides a long-term savings program for participants. The EDS 

401(k) Plan allows eligible employees to contribute a percentage of their compensation to a savings program and to defer income 

taxes until the time of distribution. Participants may invest their contributions in various publicly traded investment funds or EDS 

common stock. The EDS 401(k) Plan also provides for employer-matching contributions. Until December 31, 2006, employer 

contributions were made in the form of EDS common stock, which participants could elect to transfer to another investment option 

within the EDS 401(k) Plan after two years from the date of contribution. Participants were 40% vested in the employer-matching 

contributions after two years of service, vested another 20% per year of service thereafter, and were fully vested after five years of 

service. Beginning January 1, 2007, participants’ employer-matching contributions follow the investment allocation of their salary 

deferrals. Participants are 40% vested after two years of service, and 100% vested after three years of service. Participants with more 

than three but less than five years of service at January 1, 2007 were fully vested at that date. Participants with more than two but less 

than three years of service at January 1, 2007 will fully vest after three years of service. Participants hired after January 1, 2007 will 

fully vest after three years of service. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, employer-matching contributions 

totaled $41 million, $40 million and $37 million, respectively. 
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NOTE 14:  COMMITMENTS AND RENTAL EXPENSE  

  

Total rentals under cancelable and non-cancelable leases of tangible property and equipment included in costs and charged to expenses 

were $561 million, $557 million and $552 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Commitments 

for rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases of tangible property and equipment net of sublease rental income are: 2008 

– $398 million; 2009 – $353 million; 2010 – $263 million; 2011 – $182 million; 2012 – $135 million; and all years thereafter – $260 

million. 

  

The Company has signed certain service agreements with terms of up to ten years with certain vendors to obtain favorable pricing and 

commercial terms for services that are necessary for the ongoing operation of its business. These agreements relate to software and 

telecommunications services. Under the terms of these agreements, the Company has committed to contractually specified minimums 

over the contractual periods. The contractual minimums are: 2008 – $1,099 million; 2009 – $393 million; 2010 – $166 million; 2011 – 

$48 million; 2012 – $1 million; and all years thereafter – $1 million. Amounts purchased under these agreements were $1,598 million, 

$1,452 million and $991 million during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. To the extent that the 

Company does not purchase the contractual minimum amount of services, the Company must pay the vendors the shortfall. The 

Company believes that it will meet the contractual minimums through the normal course of business. 

  

NOTE 15:  CONTINGENCIES  

  

In connection with certain service contracts, the Company may arrange a client supported financing transaction (“CSFT”) with a client 

and an independent third-party financial institution or its designee. Under CSFT arrangements, the financial institution finances the 

purchase of certain IT-related assets and simultaneously leases those assets for use in connection with the service contract. 

  

In a CSFT, all client contract payments are made directly to the financial institution providing the financing. After the predetermined 

monthly obligations to the financial institution are met, the remaining portion of the customer payment is made available to the 

Company. If the client does not make the required payments under the service contract, under no circumstances does the Company 

have any obligation to acquire the underlying assets unless nonperformance under the service contract would permit its termination, or 

the Company fails to comply with certain customary terms under the financing agreements, including, for example, covenants the 

Company has undertaken regarding the use of the assets for their intended purpose. The Company considers the likelihood of its 

failure to comply with any of these terms to be remote. In the event of nonperformance under applicable contracts which would permit 

their termination, the Company would have no additional or incremental performance risk with respect to the ownership of the assets, 

because it would have owned or leased the same or substantially equivalent assets in order to fulfill its obligations under its service 

contracts. Performance under the Company’s service contracts is generally measured by contract terms relating to project deadlines, 

IT system deliverables or level-of-effort measurements. 

  

As of December 31, 2007, an aggregate of $76 million was outstanding under CSFTs yet to be paid by the Company’s clients. The 

Company believes it is in compliance with performance obligations under all service contracts for which there is a related CSFT and 

the ultimate liability, if any, incurred in connection with such financings will not have a material adverse affect on its consolidated 

results of operations or financial position. 

  

In the normal course of business, the Company may provide certain clients, principally governmental entities, with financial 

performance guarantees, which are generally backed by standby letters of credit or surety bonds. In general, the Company would only 

be liable for the amounts of these guarantees in the event that nonperformance by the Company permits termination of the related 

contract by the Company’s client, which the Company believes is remote. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $568 million 

outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds relating to these performance guarantees. The Company believes it is in 

compliance with its performance obligations under all service contracts for which there is a financial performance guarantee, and the 

ultimate liability, if any, incurred in connection with these guarantees will not have a material adverse affect on its consolidated results 

of operations or financial position. In addition, the Company had $8 million of other financial guarantees outstanding at December 31, 

2007 relating to indebtedness of others. 

  

The Company has received tax assessments from various taxing authorities and is currently at varying stages of appeals regarding 

these matters. The Company has provided for the amounts it believes will ultimately result from those proceedings. In January 2008, 

the Company reached a final agreement with the Appeals Office of the Internal Revenue Service for all outstanding issues for the 

period 1999-2002 consistent with the Company’s tax reserves as of December 31, 2007. 
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Pending Litigation and Proceedings 

  

On December 19, 2003, Sky Subscribers Services Limited (“SSSL”) and British Sky Broadcasting Limited (“BSkyB”), a former client 

of the Company, served a draft pleading seeking redress for the Company’s alleged failure to perform pursuant to a contract between 

the parties. Under applicable legal procedures, the Company responded to the allegations. Despite the response, on August 17, 2004, 

SSSL and BSkyB issued and served upon the Company a pleading alleging the following damages, each presented as an alternative 

cause of action: (1) pre-contract deceit in 2000 in the amount of £320 million (approximately $635 million); (2) pre-contract negligent 

misrepresentation in 2000 in the amount of £127 million (approximately $250 million); (3) deceit inducing the Letter of Agreement in 

July 2001 in the amount of £261 million (approximately $520 million); (4) negligent misrepresentation inducing the Letter of 

Agreement in July 2001 in the amount of £116 million (approximately $230 million); and (5) breach of contract from 2000 through 

2002 in the amount of £101 million (approximately $200 million). On November 12, 2004, the Company filed its defense and 

counterclaim denying the claims and seeking damages in the amount of £4.7 million (approximately $9.3 million). On December 21, 

2005, SSSL and BSkyB filed a Re-Amended Particulars of Claim alleging the following damages, still as alternative causes of action: 

(1) pre-contract deceit in the amount of £480 million (approximately $955 million); (2) pre-contract negligent misrepresentation and 

negligent misstatement in the amount of £480 million (approximately $955 million); (3) deceit inducing the Letter of Agreement and 

negligent misrepresentation inducing the Letter of Agreement of £415 million (approximately $825 million); and (4) breach of 

contract in the amount of £179 million (approximately $355 million). The principal stated reason for the increases in amount of 

damages was that the claimants had taken the opportunity to re-assess their alleged lost profits and increased costs to deliver the 

project in light of the extended timetable they then required to complete delivery of the project that was the subject of the contract. 

Claimants said then that they would further re-assess these alleged losses prior to trial. In April 2007, the claimants served on EDS in 

draft further amendments to the Particulars of Claim, and the Court conditionally granted claimants request to amend. The claimants 

have increased the damages claim still further, as follows: (1) pre-contract deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent 

misstatement in the sum of £711.4 million (approximately $1.4 billion); (2) deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent 

misstatement inducing the Letter of Agreement in the sum of £582.9 million (approximately $1.2 billion); and (3) breach of contract in 

the amount of £160.3 million (approximately $320 million). These heads of claim are still pleaded in the alternative. The principal 

stated reason for the increases in the amount of damages is that the claimants say they have re-assessed their alleged losses in the light 

of expert witness evidence. Weeks later, and immediately prior to a hearing on May 25, 2007, the claimants made further revisions to 

the quantum of their damages claims, as follows: (1) pre-contract deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent misstatement in 

the sum of £709.3 million (approximately $1.4 billion); (2) deceit, negligent misrepresentation and negligent misstatement inducing 

the Letter of Agreement in the sum of £523 million (approximately $1.0 billion); and (3) breach of contract remained unchanged in the 

amount of £160.3 million (approximately $320 million). These heads of claim are still pleaded in the alternative. The stated reason for 

the revisions of the damages claims in (1) and (2) above is that the claimants made arithmetical errors in the preceding amendments a 

few weeks earlier. A hearing was held on May 25, 2007 at which the court granted claimants leave to amend their pleaded case. 

BSkyB has since made further amendments to points of detail in the particulars of claim, however the pleaded quantum of the claim 

remains unchanged. The dispute surrounds a contract the Company entered into with BSkyB in November 2000, which was 

terminated by the Company in January 2003 for BSkyB’s failure to pay its invoices. The contract had an initial total contract value of 

approximately £48 million which rose to just over £60 million during the term of the contract. The Company intends to defend against 

these allegations vigorously. The trial for this matter commenced in October 2007 and is scheduled to continue until the end of 

May 2008. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of this matter, the Company does not believe it will have a material 

adverse impact on its consolidated results or financial position. 

  

There are other various claims and pending actions against the Company arising in the ordinary course of its business. Certain of these 

actions seek damages in significant amounts. The amount of the Company’s liability for such claims and pending actions at 

December 31, 2007 was not determinable. However, in the opinion of management, the ultimate liability, if any, resulting from such 

claims and pending actions will not have a material adverse affect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial 

position. 

  

NOTE 16:  ACQUISITIONS  

  

On November 30, 2007, the Company acquired a controlling interest (approximately 93%) in Saber Government Solutions, a provider 

of software products and services to U.S. state and local governments. The cash purchase price of the interest acquired, net of cash 

acquired, was approximately $423 million. The consolidated statements of income include the results of the acquired business since 

the date of acquisition. The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows: accounts receivable – $16 million; property and 

equipment – $3 million; deferred contract costs – $20 million; goodwill and other intangibles – $463 million; deferred income taxes – 

$34 million; accounts payable and accrued liabilities – $18 million; deferred revenue – $22 million and long-term debt – $5 million. In 

connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $6 million related to the write-off of acquired in-process 

research and development (see Note 19). The preliminary purchase price allocation may change upon completion of the valuations of 

acquired assets and assumed liabilities of the business. Factors contributing to a purchase price that resulted in recognition of goodwill 

included the domestic and international growth potential in the state and local areas 
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of voter registration, election management, public retirement programs, human services, public health services, motor vehicle 

registration and unemployment insurance, and an effective, assembled management team with an ability to successfully deploy 

software and services in such areas.  Commencing November 30, 2010, and continuing annually thereafter, (i) the Company may require Saber’s minority 

shareholders to sell their minority interest to the Company, and (ii) if the Company has not exercised its right to acquire such minority interest, Saber’s minority 

shareholders may require the Company to purchase their minority interest, at a price based on fair value; provided that the minority interest will be acquired by the 

Company prior to November 30, 2010 upon the occurrence of certain events.  Had the Company completed the acquisition as of the earliest date 

presented, results of operations on a pro forma basis would not have been materially different from actual results. 

  

On June 26, 2007, the Company acquired RelQ Software Private Limited, a software testing company based in Bangalore, India. The 

cash purchase price of RelQ, net of cash acquired, was approximately $37 million. The acquisition of RelQ enhances the Company’s 

global applications testing, validation and verification, and quality assurance services. The consolidated statements of income include 

the results of the acquired business since the date of acquisition. The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows: accounts 

receivable – $9 million; prepaids and other current assets – $1 million; property and equipment – $2 million; goodwill – $23 million; 

other intangibles – $9 million; and other liabilities – $7 million. The preliminary purchase price allocation may change upon 

completion of the valuations of acquired assets and assumed liabilities of the business. Factors contributing to a purchase price that 

resulted in recognition of goodwill included projections of the operating results of the acquired business and the ability to accelerate 

the Company’s growth in the applications services market. Had the Company completed the acquisition as of the earliest date 

presented, results of operations on a pro forma basis would not have been materially different from actual results. 

  

On June 20, 2006, the Company acquired a controlling interest (approximately 51%) in MphasiS Limited, an applications and 

business process outsourcing services company based in Bangalore, India. The cash purchase price of the controlling interest, net of 

cash acquired, was $352 million. The acquisition of MphasiS enhances the Company’s capabilities in priority growth areas of 

applications development and business process outsourcing services. The consolidated statements of income include the results of the 

acquired business since the date of acquisition. The purchase price allocation is as follows: accounts receivable – $45 million; other 

current assets – $14 million; property and equipment – $27 million; goodwill – $352 million; other intangibles – $47 million; current 

liabilities – $34 million; deferred tax liabilities – $29 million and minority interest – $70 million. Factors contributing to a purchase 

price that resulted in recognition of goodwill included the Company’s and MphasiS management’s projections of operating results of 

the acquired business, and the ability to accelerate the Company’s growth in the applications and business process outsourcing 

services markets. Had the Company completed the acquisition as of the earliest date presented, results of operations on a pro forma 

basis would not have been materially different from actual historical results. In July 2007, the Company completed the merger of its 

wholly owned Indian subsidiary into MphasiS which increased the Company’s ownership interest in MphasiS to approximately 61%, 

resulting in an increase in goodwill and other intangibles of approximately $10 million, minority interest of approximately $8 million, 

and a decrease in deferred income taxes of $2 million. 

  

On May 19, 2005, the Company purchased the outstanding minority interest in its Australian subsidiary for a cash purchase price of 

approximately $135 million. The transaction was accounted for as an acquisition by the Company, and the excess carrying value of the 

minority interest liability over the purchase price paid was allocated as a reduction to property and equipment – $(19) million; deferred 

contract costs – $(2) million; and other intangible assets – $(3) million. 

  

On March 1, 2005, the Company and Towers Perrin entered into a joint venture whereby Towers Perrin contributed cash and its 

pension, health and welfare administration services business and the Company contributed cash and its payroll and related human 

resources (“HR”) outsourcing business to a new company, known as ExcellerateHRO LLP. Upon closing of the transaction, Towers 

Perrin received $417 million in cash and a 15% minority interest, representing total consideration paid by the Company to Towers 

Perrin, and the Company received an 85% interest in the new company. The acquisition enabled the Company to offer a 

comprehensive set of HR outsourcing solutions across the core areas of benefits, payroll, compensation management, workforce 

administration and relocation, recruitment and staffing, and workforce development. The consolidated statements of income include 

the results of the acquired business since the date of acquisition. The transaction was accounted for as an acquisition by the Company 

with the purchase price being allocated as follows: property and equipment – $19 million; other intangibles – $41 million; goodwill – 

$423 million; other assets – $5 million; accrued expenses – $4 million; and minority interest – $67 million. Factors contributing to a 

purchase price that resulted in recognition of goodwill included the Company’s and its advisors’ projections of operating results of the 

new company, the ability to accelerate the Company’s growth in the HR outsourcing market and the competitive differentiation 

offered by the relationship with Towers Perrin. Towers Perrin may require the Company to purchase its minority interest in the joint 

venture at any time after March 1, 2010, or prior to that date upon the occurrence of certain events (including the breach by the 

Company of certain transaction related agreements, the failure of the joint venture to achieve certain financial results or certain events 

related to the Company), at a price based on the fair market value of such interest, with a minimum purchase price based on the joint 

venture’s annual revenue. In addition, the Company may require Towers Perrin to sell its minority interest in the joint venture to the 

Company at any time after March 1, 2012, or prior to that date upon the occurrence of certain events (including the breach by Towers 

Perrin of certain transaction related agreements or certain events 
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related to Towers Perrin), at a price based on the fair market value of such interest, with a minimum purchase price based on the joint 

venture’s annual revenue. Had the Company completed the acquisition as of the earliest date presented, results of operations on a pro 

forma basis would not have been materially different from actual historical results. 

  

NOTE 17:  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

  

Loss from discontinued operations includes the results of the Company’s A.T. Kearney subsidiary which was sold in January 2006 

and the maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) management services business which was sold in March 2007. Loss from 

discontinued operations also includes various adjustments to gains and losses associated with sales of certain businesses classified as 

discontinued operations in prior years. Proceeds from the sale of A.T. Kearney included a 10-year promissory note from the buyer 

valued at $52 million. The Company received a $52 million payment from the buyer in 2007 to satisfy this note. Under the terms of 

the MRO sale agreement and related customer contract amendments, the Company retained accounts receivable and certain other 

assets of the business but transferred the tangible assets related to the MRO business to the buyer. The Company provided the buyer 

and a major customer with certain services during a transition period which extended until the end of 2007. The Company will have 

no continuing involvement in operations of the MRO management services business beyond the transition period. The MRO business 

was previously included in the Company’s A.T. Kearney segment. No interest expense has been allocated to discontinued operations 

for any of the periods presented. 

  

Following is a summary of loss from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Revenues 
  

$ 1 
  

$ 69 
  

$ 780 
  

Costs and expenses 
  

21 
  

123 
  

846 
  

Operating loss 
  

(20 ) (54 ) (66 ) 

Other income (expense) 
  

— 
  

— 
  

2 
  

Net loss 
  

(2 ) (1 ) (110 ) 

Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes 
  

(22 ) (55 ) (174 ) 

Income tax benefit 
  

9 
  

26 
  

38 
  

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 
  

$ (13 ) $ (29 ) $ (136 ) 

  

A.T. Kearney’s results for the year ended December 31, 2005 include a pre-tax impairment charge of $118 million to write-down the 

carrying value of its long-lived assets, including tradename intangible, to estimated fair value less cost to sell. The impairment charge 

is partially offset by the recognition of $8 million previously unrecognized tax assets that were expected to be realized as a result of 

the sale. 

  

NOTE 18:  SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

  

Following is supplemental financial information for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Property and equipment depreciation (including capital leases) 
  

$ 784 
  

$ 761 
  

$ 831 
  

Intangible asset and other amortization 
  

462 
  

401 
  

378 
  

Deferred cost amortization and charges 
  

195 
  

175 
  

175 
  

Cash paid for: 
              

Income taxes, net of refunds 
  

136 
  

442 
  

378 
  

Interest 
  

230 
  

235 
  

232 
  

                      

  

The Company acquired $398 million, $185 million and $160 million of equipment and facilities utilizing capital leases in 2007, 2006 

and 2005, respectively. 
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NOTE 19:  OTHER OPERATING (INCOME) EXPENSE  

  

Following is a summary of other operating (income) expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions): 

  

    

2007 
  

2006 
  

2005 
  

Restructuring costs, net of reversals 
  

$ (4 ) $ (7 ) $ 68 
  

Early retirement offer 
  

154 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Acquired in-process R&D 
  

6 
  

— 
  

— 
  

Pre-tax loss (gain) on disposal of businesses: 
              

Global Field Services 
  

— 
  

23 
  

— 
  

European wireless clearing 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(93 ) 

U.S. wireless clearing 
  

— 
  

(1 ) — 
  

Other 
  

— 
  

— 
  

(1 ) 

Total 
  

$ 156 
  

$ 15 
  

$ (26 ) 

  

During 2007, the Company announced an early retirement offer (“ERO”) for approximately 12,000 U.S. employees. Approximately 

2,400 employees accepted the offer which provided enhanced retirement benefits payable through normal payment options under the 

EDS Retirement Plan. In connection with the ERO, the Company incurred incremental expense of approximately $154 million, 

substantially all of which is attributable to enhanced benefits under the EDS Retirement Plan. Because substantially all of the ERO 

cash expenditures will be funded from the EDS Retirement Plan assets, the Company does not expect the ERO to result in any 

material cash expenditures based on the current funded status of that plan. 

  

During 2006, the Company sold its Global Field Services (“GFS”) business in Europe which resulted in a pre-tax loss of $23 million. 

During 2005, the Company sold its European wireless clearing business which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $93 million. In connection 

with the sale, the Company recognized a $32 million valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets in certain European countries 

that may no longer be recoverable as a result of the sale. Net assets of the business included goodwill of $45 million. The net results of 

GFS and the European wireless clearing business are not included in discontinued operations due to the Company’s level of 

continuing involvement with the businesses. 
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NOTE 20:  QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

  

(in millions, except per share amounts) 

  

    

Year Ended December 31, 2007 
  

    

First 

 Quarter(1)(3) 
  

Second 

 Quarter(1) 
  

Third  

 Quarter(1)(3) 
  

Fourth 

 Quarter(1)(2) 
  

Year(1)(2)(3) 
  

Revenues 
  

$ 5,224 
  

$ 5,449 
  

$ 5,629 
  

$ 5,832 
  

$ 22,134 
  

Gross profit from operations 
  

701 
  

719 
  

838 
  

940 
  

3,198 
  

Other operating (income) expense 
  

— 
  

(1 ) — 
  

157 
  

156 
  

Income from continuing operations 
  

165 
  

144 
  

225 
  

195 
  

729 
  

Loss from discontinued operations 
  

(1 ) (6 ) — 
  

(6 ) (13 ) 

Net income 
  

164 
  

138 
  

225 
  

189 
  

716 
  

                        

Basic earnings per share of common stock: 
                      

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.32 
  

$ 0.28 
  

$ 0.44 
  

$ 0.38 
  

$ 1.42 
  

Net income 
  

0.32 
  

0.27 
  

0.44 
  

0.37 
  

1.40 
  

Diluted earnings per share of common stock: 

                      

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.31 
  

$ 0.27 
  

$ 0.42 
  

$ 0.37 
  

$ 1.37 
  

Net income 
  

0.31 
  

0.26 
  

0.42 
  

0.36 
  

1.35 
  

Cash dividends per share of common stock 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.20 
  

  

    

Year Ended December 31, 2006 
  

    

First 

 Quarter 
  

Second 

 Quarter  
  

Third  

 Quarter(1) 
  

Fourth 

 Quarter(1) 
  

Year 
  

Revenues 
  

$ 5,078 
  

$ 5,194 
  

$ 5,292 
  

$ 5,704 
  

$ 21,268 
  

Gross profit from operations 
  

527 
  

627 
  

667 
  

868 
  

2,689 
  

Other operating (income) expense 
  

(1 ) (4 ) (1 ) 21 
  

15 
  

Income from continuing operations 
  

33 
  

109 
  

130 
  

227 
  

499 
  

Loss from discontinued operations 
  

(9 ) (5 ) (5 ) (10 ) (29 ) 

Net income 
  

24 
  

104 
  

125 
  

217 
  

470 
  

                        

Basic earnings per share of common stock: 
                      

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.06 
  

$ 0.21 
  

$ 0.25 
  

$ 0.44 
  

$ 0.96 
  

Net income 
  

0.05 
  

0.20 
  

0.24 
  

0.42 
  

0.91 
  

Diluted earnings per share of common stock: 

                      

Income from continuing operations 
  

$ 0.06 
  

$ 0.21 
  

$ 0.25 
  

$ 0.42 
  

$ 0.94 
  

Net income 
  

0.05 
  

0.20 
  

0.24 
  

0.40 
  

0.89 
  

Cash dividends per share of common stock 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.05 
  

0.20 
  

  
 
 

 
 

(1)       The Company has contingently convertible debt that is excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share when 

the result is antidilutive. If the result is dilutive, income from continuing operations, net income and weighted-average 

shares outstanding are adjusted as if conversion took place on the first day of the reporting period. The effect of this debt 

was dilutive in the third and fourth quarters of 2006, and in each quarter and for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

(2)       The Company incurred incremental net periodic pension costs of approximately $154 million ($95 million net of tax) in 

the fourth quarter of 2007 related to an early retirement offer. 

(3)       The Company recognized revenues of $100 million in the first quarter of 2007 and $125 million in the third quarter of 

2007 related to the termination of its services contract with Verizon. 
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EXHIBIT 99.3  
  

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED  

 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
  

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated balance sheet as of July 31, 2008 and the unaudited pro 

forma condensed combined consolidated statements of earnings for the nine months ended July 31, 2008 and for the fiscal year ended 

October 31, 2007 are based on the historical financial statements of Hewlett-Packard Company (“HP”) and Electronic Data Systems 

Corporation (“EDS”) after giving effect to the acquisition of EDS by HP and the issuance of commercial paper to finance the 

acquisition, and after applying the assumptions, reclassifications and adjustments described in the accompanying notes to the 

unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements. The acquisition was completed on August 26, 2008. 
  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements have been prepared by HP for illustrative 

purposes only and reflect preliminary estimates and assumptions based on information available at the time of the preparation, 

including preliminary fair value estimates of the intangible assets acquired and net liabilities assumed as discussed below.  The 

unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements are not intended to represent or be indicative of the 

consolidated results of operations or financial condition of HP that would have been reported had the acquisition been completed and 

the commercial paper issued as of the dates presented and should not be taken as representative of the future consolidated results of 

operations or financial condition of HP.  The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements do not 

reflect any operating efficiencies and/or cost savings that HP may achieve with respect to the combined companies nor do they include 

the effects of any refinancing of the commercial paper issued to finance the acquisition. 
  

HP and EDS have different fiscal year ends.  Accordingly, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated balance 

sheet as of July 31, 2008 combines HP’s historical unaudited consolidated condensed balance sheet as of July 31, 2008 and EDS’s 

historical unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2008 and is presented as if the acquisition of EDS and the 

commercial paper issuance had occurred on July 31, 2008. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statement of 

earnings for the nine months ended July 31, 2008 combines the unaudited historical results of HP for the nine months ended July 31, 

2008 and the unaudited historical results of EDS for the nine months ended June 30, 2008.  The unaudited pro forma condensed 

combined consolidated statement of earnings for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2007 combines the historical results of HP for the 

year ended October 31, 2007 and the historical results of EDS for the twelve months ended September 30, 2007.  The unaudited pro 

forma condensed combined consolidated statements of earnings are presented as if the acquisition and commercial paper issuance had 

occurred on November 1, 2006. 
  

The acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with Statement of Financial 

Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations.  Accordingly, the total estimated purchase price, calculated as described in 

Note 1 to these unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements, has been allocated on a preliminary basis 

to intangible assets acquired and net liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition based on their estimated fair values as of the 

completion of the acquisition.  These allocations reflect various preliminary estimates and analyses, including preliminary work 

performed by third-party valuation specialists, and are subject to change during the purchase price allocation period (generally one 

year from the acquisition date) as valuations are finalized. 
  

HP has approved plans to terminate certain employees, vacate certain facilities and exit certain activities of HP and EDS.  As 

described in Note 4 to these unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements, certain pro forma 

adjustments have been included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements for severance costs 

relating to terminating these employees, costs of vacating these facilities, and other costs associated with exiting these activities. 
  
 
 

 



 

 

  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with HP’s 

historical consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes contained in HP’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year 

ended October 31, 2007 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its quarter ended July 31, 2008 and EDS’s historical consolidated 

financial statements and accompanying notes contained in EDS’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year ended December 31, 

2007 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its quarter ended June 30, 2008, which are included as Exhibits 99.2 and 99.1, 

respectively, to this Form 8-K/A. 
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HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

As of July 31, 2008 

  

    

Historical  
              

    

July 31, 2008 
  

June 30, 2008 
  

Pro Forma 
      

Pro Forma 
  

In  millions 
  

HP 
  

EDS (1) 
  

Adjustments 
      

Combined 
  

        

ASSETS 
                

  

    

                        

Current assets: 
                

  

    

Cash and cash equivalents 
  

$ 14,783 
  

$ 3,102 
  

$ (2,731 ) a 
  

$ 15,154 
  

Accounts and financing receivables 
  

16,348 
  

3,863 
  

(99 ) b 
  

20,112 
  

Inventory 
  

8,160 
  

162 
  

— 
    

  

8,322 
  

Other current assets 
  

11,745 
  

2,086 
  

(170 ) c,d,e 
  

13,661 
  

                        

Total current assets 
  

51,036 
  

9,213 
  

(3,000 ) 
  

  

57,249 
  

                        

Property, plant and equipment 
  

7,971 
  

3,028 
  

250 
  

f 
  

11,249 
  

                        

Long-term financing receivables and other assets 
  

10,306 
  

1,922 
  

(1,130 ) c,d,g,h 
  

11,098 
  

                        

Goodwill 
  

22,599 
  

5,158 
  

4,318 
  

i 
  

32,075 
  

                        

Purchased intangible assets 
  

3,982 
  

341 
  

4,207 
  

j 
  

8,530 
  

                        

Total assets 
  

$ 95,894 
  

$ 19,662 
  

$ 4,645 
    

  

$ 120,201 
  

                        

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

                

  

    

                        

Current liabilities: 
                

  

    

Notes payable and short-term borrowings 
  

$ 3,591 
  

$ 160 
  

$ 9,939 
  

a 
  

$ 13,690 
  

Accounts payable 
  

14,021 
  

737 
  

— 
    

  

14,758 
  

Employee compensation and benefits 
  

3,206 
  

787 
  

— 
    

  

3,993 
  

Taxes on earnings 
  

806 
  

91 
  

27 
  

d 
  

924 
  

Deferred revenue 
  

5,664 
  

961 
  

(370 ) c 
  

6,255 
  

Other accrued liabilities 
  

14,612 
  

1,951 
  

1,602 
  

k,l 
  

18,165 
  

                        

Total current liabilities 
  

41,900 
  

4,687 
  

11,198 
    

  

57,785 
  

                        

Long-term debt 
  

6,628 
  

3,069 
  

57 
  

m 
  

9,754 
  

Other liabilities 
  

8,871 
  

2,081 
  

3,163 
  

c,d,g,k,n 
  

14,115 
  

                        

Total stockholders’ equity 
  

38,495 
  

9,825 
  

(9,773 ) o 
  

38,547 
  

                        

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 
  

$ 95,894 
  

$ 19,662 
  

$ 4,645 
  

    

$ 120,201 
  

  
 
 

 
 

(1)  Certain reclassifications were made to conform to HP’s financial statement presentation. 
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HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS 

For the Nine Months Ended July 31, 2008 

  

    

Historical  
              

    

Nine months ended 
              

    

July 31, 2008 
  

June 30, 2008 
  

Pro Forma 
      

Pro Forma 
  

In  millions, except per share amounts 
  

HP 
  

EDS (1) 
  

Adjustments 
      

Combined 
  

        

Net revenue: 
            

  

  

  

    

Products 
  

$ 67,866 
  

$ — 
  

$ — 
  

  

  

$ 67,866 
  

Services 
  

16,619 
  

16,820 
  

(179 ) p 
  

33,260 
  

Financing income 
  

276 
  

14 
  

— 
  

  

  

290 
  

                        

Total net revenue 
  

84,761 
  

16,834 
  

(179 ) 
  

  

101,416 
  

                        

Costs and expenses: 
            

  

  

  

    

Cost of products 
  

51,091 
  

— 
  

— 
  

  

  

51,091 
  

Cost of services 
  

12,678 
  

14,542 
  

(114 ) f,p,q 
  

27,106 
  

Financing interest 
  

244 
  

— 
  

— 
  

  

  

244 
  

Research and development 
  

2,701 
  

— 
  

— 
  

  

  

2,701 
  

Selling, general and administrative 
  

9,653 
  

1,435 
  

(28 ) f,q 
  

11,060 
  

Amortization of purchased intangible assets 
  

630 
  

52 
  

552 
  

j 
  

1,234 
  

In-process research and development charges 
  

13 
  

6 
  

— 
  

  

  

19 
  

Restructuring charges 
  

19 
  

151 
  

— 
  

  

  

170 
  

Pension curtailments and settlements, net 
  

— 
  

(9 ) — 
  

  

  

(9 ) 

                        

Total operating expenses 
  

77,029 
  

16,177 
  

410 
  

  

  

93,616 
  

                        

Earnings from operations 
  

7,732 
  

657 
  

(589 ) 
  

  

7,800 
  

                        

Interest and other, net 
  

98 
  

(17 ) (167 ) r 
  

(86 ) 

                        

Earnings before taxes 
  

7,830 
  

640 
  

(756 ) 
  

  

7,714 
  

Provision for taxes 
  

1,613 
  

223 
  

(251 ) s 
  

1,585 
  

                        

Net earnings (2) 
  

$ 6,217 
  

$ 417 
  

$ (505 ) 
  

  

$ 6,129 
  

                        

Net earnings per share (2): 
            

  

  

  

    

Basic 
  

$ 2.49 
  

$ 0.82 
    

  

  

  

$ 2.45 
  

Diluted 
  

$ 2.41 
  

$ 0.80 
    

  

  

  

$ 2.37 
  

                        

Weighted-average shares used to compute net 

earnings per share: 
            

  

  

  

    

Basic 
  

2,497 
  

509 
    

  

  

  

2,497 
  

Diluted 
  

2,577 
  

521 
    

  

  

  

2,585 
  

  
 
 

 
 

(1)  Certain reclassifications were made to conform to HP’s financial statement presentation. 

(2)  Net earnings and net earnings per share are presented before discontinued operations. 
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HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES ̀

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS 

For the Year Ended October 31,2007 
  

    

Historical  
          

    

For the year ended 
          

    

October 31, 2007 
  

September 30, 2007 
  

Pro Forma 
  

Pro Forma 
  

In  millions, except per share amounts 
  

HP 
  

EDS (1) 
  

Adjustments 
  

Combined 
  

        

Net revenue: 
                  

Products 
  

$ 84,229 
  

$ — 
  

$ — 
  

$ 84,229 
  

Services 
  

19,699 
  

22,006 
  

(132 )     p 41,573 
  

Financing income 
  

358 
  

18 
      

376 
  

                    

Total net revenue 
  

104,286 
  

22,024 
  

(132 ) 126,178 
  

                    

Costs and expenses: 
                  

Cost of products 
  

63,435 
  

— 
  

— 
  

63,435 
  

Cost of services 
  

15,163 
  

18,882 
  

(48 )     f,p,q 33,997 
  

Financing interest 
  

289 
  

— 
  

— 
  

289 
  

Research and development 
  

3,611 
  

— 
  

— 
  

3,611 
  

Selling, general and administrative 
  

12,226 
  

1,905 
  

(3 )     f,q 14,128 
  

Amortization of purchased intangible 

assets 
  

783 
  

32 
  

764       j 1,579 
  

In-process research and development 

charges 
  

190 
  

— 
  

— 
  

190 
  

Restructuring charges 
  

387 
  

(3 ) — 
  

384 
  

Pension curtailments and settlements, 

net 
  

(517 ) (62 ) — 
  

(579 ) 

                    

Total operating expenses 
  

95,567 
  

20,754 
  

713 
  

117,034 
  

                    

Earnings from operations 
  

8,719 
  

1,270 
  

(845 ) 9,144 
  

                    

Interest and other, net 
  

458 
  

(97 ) (223 )     r 138 
  

                    

Earnings before taxes 
  

9,177 
  

1,173 
  

(1,068 ) 9,282 
  

Provision for taxes 
  

1,913 
  

412 
  

(351 )     s 1,974 
  

                    

Net earnings (2) 
  

$ 7,264 
  

$ 761 
  

$ (717 ) $ 7,308 
  

                    

Net earnings per share (2): 
                  

Basic 
  

$ 2.76 
  

$ 1.48 
      

$ 2.78 
  

Diluted 
  

$ 2.68 
  

$ 1.42 
      

$ 2.68 
  

                    

Weighted-average shares used to 

compute net earnings per share: 
                  

Basic 
  

2,630 
  

514 
      

2,630 
  

Diluted 
  

2,716 
  

536 
      

2,724 
  

  
 
 

 

 

(1)          Certain reclassifications were made to conform to HP’s financial statement presentation. 

(2)          Net earnings and net earnings per share are presented before discontinued operations. 
  

5 
 
 

 



 

 

  

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
  

Note 1: Basis of Pro Forma Presentation 
  

On August 26, 2008, HP completed its acquisition of EDS, and EDS became a wholly owned subsidiary of HP. The total 

estimated purchase price of the acquisition is as follows (in millions except per share amounts): 

  

Acquisition of approximately 507 million shares of outstanding common stock of EDS at $25 per share in cash 

  

$ 12,670 
  

Estimated fair value of stock options and restricted stock units assumed and converted 
  

328 
  

Estimated direct transaction costs 
  

43 
  

Total estimated purchase price 
  

$ 13,041 
  

  

In connection with the acquisition, HP assumed options to purchase approximately 8 million shares of EDS common stock at a 

weighted-average exercise price of approximately $50 per share.  Each assumed option was converted into an option to purchase HP 

common stock based on a conversion ratio of 0.5519, which was calculated as the consideration price of $25 paid by HP for each 

outstanding share of EDS common stock divided by the average closing price of HP stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 

five trading days ending two days prior to the August 26, 2008 closing date of the acquisition.  The fair value of the outstanding 

options was determined using a Black-Scholes valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  volatility of 

25.51%; weighted average risk-free rate of 2.2%, weighted average expected life of 1.9 years and dividend yield of 0.7%.  HP also  

assumed and converted  outstanding EDS restricted stock units into approximately 11 million HP restricted stock units based on the same 

conversion ratio of 0.5519.  The fair value of the restricted stock units was determined based on the fair value of the underlying 

shares.  The fair value of the unearned options and restricted stock units will be recorded as operating expense on a straight-line basis 

over the remaining service periods, while the fair value of the earned awards is included in the total purchase price. 
  

Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price will be allocated to EDS’s net tangible and intangible assets 

based on their estimated fair values as of the August 26, 2008 closing date of the acquisition.  The excess of the purchase price over 

the net tangible and intangible assets will be recorded as goodwill.  HP has made a preliminary allocation of the estimated purchase 

price using estimates as described in the introduction to these unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial 

statements as follows (in millions): 
  

Cash and short term investments 
  

$ 3,034 
  

Other tangible assets 
  

8,878 
  

Notes payable and debt 
  

(3,298 ) 

Deferred revenue 
  

(785 ) 

Net deferred tax liabilities 
  

(886 ) 

Other liabilities assumed 
  

(8,343 ) 

Total net tangible liabilities 
  

$ (1,400 ) 

Amortizable intangible assets: 
      

Customer contracts and related relationships 
  

3,199 
  

Developed technology and trade name 
  

1,349 
  

Goodwill 
  

9,863 
  

In-process research and development 
  

30 
  

Total preliminary estimated purchase price allocation 
  

$ 13,041 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

Of the total purchase price, a preliminary estimate of approximately $4.5 billion has been allocated to amortizable intangible 

assets acquired and a preliminary estimate of approximately $1.4 billion has been allocated to net liabilities assumed in connection 

with the acquisition.  The depreciation and amortization effect of the fair value adjustment to certain tangible assets and the 

amortization related to the amortizable intangible assets are reflected as pro forma adjustments to the unaudited pro forma condensed 

combined consolidated statements of earnings as described in Note 4 to these unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated 

financial statements. 
  

In-process research and development charges relate to amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets to be used in research 

and development projects that have no alternative future use and therefore are charged to expense at the acquisition 

date.  Accordingly, the portion of the purchase price allocated to in-process research and development was charged to expense in HP’s 

fiscal quarter ended October 31, 2008.  Due to its non-recurring nature, this in-process research and development expense has been 

excluded from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statement of earnings. 
  

HP has evaluated and continues to evaluate pre-acquisition contingencies relating to EDS that existed as of the acquisition 

date.  If these pre-acquisition contingencies become probable in nature and estimable during the remainder of the purchase price 

allocation period, amounts may be recorded to goodwill for such matters.  If these pre-acquisition contingencies become probable in 

nature and estimable after the end of the purchase price allocation period, amounts may be recorded for such matters in HP’s results of 

operations. 
  

Note 2: Financing Activities 
  

In August 2008, HP issued approximately $9.9 billion of commercial paper under its existing commercial paper programs to 

fund the acquisition of EDS.  As of the original issuance date, the average maturities of the commercial paper was approximately 30 

days with a weighted average yield of 2.25%.  HP may replace some of the commercial paper with issuances of term debt securities. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

Note 3: Reclassifications 
  

Certain reclassifications have been made to conform EDS’s historical amounts to HP’s presentation.  These adjustments 

primarily relate to reclassifying VAT receivables from other accrued liabilities to other current assets, reclassifying certain software 

assets from intangible assets to property, plant and equipment, reclassifying the long-term portion of deferred revenue to other 

liabilities and reclassifying the short-term portion of deferred costs to other current assets. 

  

Note 4: Pro Forma Adjustments 
  

The pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated financial statements are as 

follows: 
  

(a)                                  To record the following adjustments to cash and cash equivalents (in millions): 
  

Proceeds from the issuance of commercial paper 
  

$ 9,939 
  

Cash paid for EDS common stock 
  

(12,670 ) 

Total adjustments to cash and cash equivalents 
  

$ (2,731 ) 

  

(b)                                 To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of accounts and 

financing receivables.  The preliminary estimated fair value includes a reserve for the collectibility of receivables based on the facts 

and circumstances known at the date of the acquisition. 
  

(c)                                  To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of deferred revenue 

and deferred costs of EDS (in millions): 
  

Writedown of short-term portion of deferred revenue 
  

$ (370 ) 

Writedown of long-term portion of deferred revenue (Other liabilities) 
  

$ (387 ) 

Writedown of short-term portion of deferred costs (Other current assets) 
  

$ (145 ) 

Writedown of long-term portion deferred costs (Long-term financing receivables and other assets) 
  

$ (284 ) 
  

Deferred revenue and deferred costs relate to service contracts assumed in connection with the acquisition. The writedown of 

deferred revenue consists of amounts in excess of the preliminary estimated fair value. The preliminary estimated fair value of 

deferred revenue includes primarily prepayments for services to be provided in the future. The writedown of deferred costs relates to 

corresponding deferred revenue writedowns. The remaining deferred costs relate to construction and set-up activities under existing 

contracts for which payment has not yet been received. 
  

(d)                                 To record tax adjustments related to the acquisition (in millions): 

  

Net increase in short-term deferred tax assets (Other current assets) 
  

$ 32 
  

Net decrease in long-term deferred tax assets (Long-term financing receivables and other assets) 
  

(274 ) 

Net increase in short-term deferred tax liabilities and income taxes payable (Taxes on earnings) 
  

27 
  

Net increase in long-term deferred tax liabilities (Other liabilities) 
  

1,637 
  

        

Net increase in deferred tax liabilities 
  

$ 1,906 
  

  

Net deferred tax liabilities include primarily provisions made related to outside basis differences of foreign subsidiaries that are 

not intended to be indefinitely reinvested and temporary differences related to purchased intangible assets.  In addition, the balance 

represents tax effects of fair value adjustments related to tangible assets and liabilities.  Upon finalization of the combined company’s 

legal entity structure, additional adjustments to deferred taxes may be required. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

(e)                                  To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of certain other 

current assets of EDS. 
  

(f)                                     To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of EDS’s property, 

plant and equipment and the resulting change in depreciation expense (in millions): 
  

                

Change in 
          

                

depreciation 
  

Change in 
      

    

Historical  
  

Preliminary  
      

nine months 
  

depreciation 
      

    

amount, 
  

estimate 
      

ended 
  

year ended 
  

Useful 
  

    

net 
  

fair  value 
  

Increase 
  

July 31, 2008 
  

October 31, 2007 
  

life 
  

Land 
  

$ 61 
  

$ 110 
  

$ 49 
  

$ — 
  

$ — 
  

n/a 
  

Buildings, machinery and 

equipment 
  

2,967 
  

3,168 
  

201 
  

84 
  

112 
  

2-8 
  

Total property, plant 

and equipment 
  

$ 3,028 
  

$ 3,278 
  

$ 250 
  

$ 84 
  

$ 112 
      

Included in cost of 

services 
              

$ 83 
  

$ 111 
      

Included in selling, 

general and 

administrative 
              

1 
  

1 
      

  

              

$ 84 
  

$ 112 
      

  

(g)                                 To record adjustments to reflect the preliminary estimated fair values of EDS’s pension plans (in millions): 
  

Reduction in net pension assets—over funded plans (Long-term financing receivables and other assets) 
  

$ (514 ) 

Increase in net pension liabilities—under funded plans (Other liabilities) 
  

$ 1,265 
  

  

HP assumed responsibility for EDS’s pension and other post-retirement benefit plans and remeasured the funded status of these 

plans at the close of the acquisition.  The funded status reflects the fair market value of plan assets and plan obligations and was 

calculated using discount rates reflective of current investment yields of high-quality, fixed-income investments commensurate with 

the benefits maturity period. 
  

(h)           To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of certain long-term 

financing receivables and other assets of EDS. 
  

(i)                                      To eliminate EDS’s historical goodwill and record the preliminary estimated fair value of goodwill for the acquisition 

(in millions): 
  

        

Preliminary  
      

    

Historical  
  

estimated fair  
      

    

amount 
  

value 
  

Increase 
  

Goodwill 
  

$ 5,158 
  

$ 9,476 
  

$ 4,318 
  

                      

  

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair value of the underlying net tangible 

and intangible assets.  Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment at least annually. In the event that HP 

determines that the value of goodwill has become impaired, HP will incur an accounting charge for the amount of impairment during 

the fiscal quarter in which such determination is made. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

(j)                                      To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of EDS’s intangible 

assets and the resulting increase in amortization expense (in millions): 
  

    

Preliminary  

 estimated fair  

 value 
  

Change in 

 amortization 

 nine months ended 

 July 31, 2008 
  

Change in 

 amortization 

 year ended 

 October 31, 2007 
  

Useful life 

 (years) 
  

Customer contracts and related 

relationships 
  

$ 3,199 
  

$ 300 
  

$ 400 
  

8 
  

Developed technology and trade 

name 
  

1,349 
  

252 
  

364 
  

up to 5 
  

  

  

$ 4,548 
  

$ 552 
  

$ 764 
      

Less EDS historical balance 
  

(341 ) 
            

  

  

$ 4,207 
              

  

Customer contracts and related relationships represent existing contracts that relate primarily to underlying customer 

relationships.  The preliminary estimated fair value of the customer contracts and related relationships represents the sum of the 

present value of the expected cash flows attributable to those customer relationships.  The cash flows were determined from the 

revenue and profit forecasts associated with existing contracts and renewals, as well as add-ons and growth opportunities that are 

expected to be generated from these customer relationships.  HP expects to amortize the fair value of these assets on a straight-line 

basis over a weighted-average estimated life of eight years. 
  

The developed technology and trade name assets include patents, business processes and tools, proprietary business methods 

and the EDS family brand.  EDS’s technology can be leveraged to assist and improve existing services.  HP expects to amortize the 

developed technology and trade name assets on a straight-line basis up to an estimated life of five years. 
  

(k)                                  To record adjustments to reflect preliminary estimated restructuring liabilities (in millions): 
  

Short-term restructuring (Other accrued liabilities) 
  

$ 1,146 
  

Long-term restructuring (Other liabilities) 
  

618 
  

  

  

$ 1,764 
  

  

HP has approved plans to terminate certain employees, vacate certain facilities and exit certain activities of HP and 

EDS.  Approximately $1.6 billion was recorded to goodwill for severance costs related to terminating EDS employees, costs of 

vacating EDS facilities (leased or owned), and other costs associated with exiting activities of EDS.  In addition, HP recorded a 

restructuring charge of approximately $0.2 billion during its fiscal quarter ended October 31, 2008 for severance costs related to 

terminating HP employees, costs of vacating HP facilities (leased or owned), and other costs associated with exiting activities of 

HP.  A pro forma adjustment of $1.8 billion relating to these restructuring activities has been included as a liability in the unaudited 

pro forma condensed combined consolidated balance sheet as of July 31, 2008.  No adjustment relating to the $0.2 billion of HP 

restructuring charges has been included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statements of earnings since the 

costs associated with these restructuring activities are non-recurring in nature.  HP estimates that these restructuring activities will 

result in aggregate cash expenditures of approximately $1.8 billion.  HP also expects to incur approximately $0.3 billion of 

restructuring charges in future quarters that have not been reflected in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated 

financial statements. These estimates are subject to change based on HP’s further assessments. 
  

(l)                                      To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of certain other 

accrued liabilities of EDS.  This adjustment to other accrued liabilities includes HP’s preliminary estimate of an additional amount 

expected to be recorded during the purchase price allocation period as an adjustment to goodwill relating to certain pre-acquisition 

loss contingencies that were deemed probable and estimable as of the completion of the acquisition.  This amount is subject to change 

to the extent that additional information affecting HP’s determination of the amount of the estimated loss as of the completion of the 

acquisition becomes available during the purchase price allocation period. 
  

(m)                               To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of EDS’s long-term 

debt. 
  

(n)                                 To record the difference between the preliminary estimated fair value and the historical amount of certain of EDS’s 

other long-term liabilities. 
  

(o)                                 To record the following adjustments to stockholders’ equity (in millions): 
  

To record the preliminary estimated fair value of the EDS stock awards assumed and converted in the 

acquisition 
  

$ 328 
  



To record the estimated charges related to the HP restructuring plan 
  

(246 ) 

To record the preliminary estimated fair value of in-process research and development 
  

(30 ) 

To eliminate accumulated other comprehensive income related to EDS’s pension plans 
  

(159 ) 

To eliminate EDS’s remaining historical stockholders’ equity 
  

(9,666 ) 
  

  

$ (9,773 ) 

  

(p)                                 To eliminate transactions between HP and EDS for the historical periods presented. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

(q)                                 To reflect the reduction in estimated stock-based compensation expense related to the unearned portion of EDS stock 

options and restricted stock units assumed and converted in connection with the acquisition using the straight-line amortization 

method over the remaining vesting periods: 

  

    

Nine months ended July 31, 2008 
  

        

Stock-based 
      

        

compensation 
      

    

Historical  
  

expense based 
      

    

stock-based 
  

upon preliminary  
  

Decrease in stock-based 
  

(In  millions) 
  

compensation 
  

fair  values 
  

compensation expense 
  

Cost of services 
  

$ 32 
  

$ 14 
  

$ (18 ) 

Selling general and administrative 
  

73 
  

44 
  

(29 ) 

Total stock-based compensation 
  

$ 105 
  

$ 58 
  

$ (47 ) 

  

    

Year ended October 31, 2007 
  

        

Stock-based 
      

        

compensation 
      

    

Historical  
  

expense based 
      

    

stock-based 
  

upon preliminary  
  

Decrease in stock-based 
  

(In  millions) 
  

compensation 
  

fair  values 
  

compensation expense 
  

Cost of services 
  

$ 56 
  

$ 29 
  

$ (27 ) 

Selling general and administrative 
  

93 
  

89 
  

(4 ) 

Total stock-based compensation 
  

$ 149 
  

$ 118 
  

$ (31 ) 

  

HP assumed all of EDS’s equity plans including the rights, terms and conditions of the plans under which the stock awards 

were originally granted. These rights, terms and conditions include a provision for accelerated vesting of unvested stock awards for 

eligible employees (generally, such provision applies to any EDS employee with stock awards who is involuntarily terminated after 

the closing date of the acquisition). 
  

(r)                                    To record interest expense associated with the issuance of commercial paper to finance the acquisition. 

  

(In  millions) 
  

Outstanding 

 amount 
  

Estimated weighted 

 average effective 

 annual interest rate 
  

Increase in interest 

 expense 

 nine months ended 

 July 31, 2008 
  

Increase in interest 

 expense 

 year ended 

 October 31, 2007 
  

                    

Interest expense associated with the 

issuance of commercial paper 

  

$ 9,939 
  

2.25 % $ 167 
  

$ 223 
  

                          

  

Interest expense on commercial paper outstanding reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated 

statements of operations and in the table above assumes constant interest rates and principal amounts equal to those that existed as of 

the date of issuance.  The unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statements of operations and the table above do not 

reflect any reductions in interest expense that may result from repayments of HP’s commercial paper borrowings or any changes in 

interest rates that may result from the refinancing of those borrowings. 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED  

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  
  

(s)                                  To record the pro forma income tax impact at the weighted-average estimated income tax rates applicable to the 

jurisdictions in which the pro forma adjustments are expected to be recorded. The pro forma combined provision for income taxes 

does not reflect the amounts that would have resulted had HP and EDS filed consolidated income tax returns during the periods 

presented. 
  

(In  millions) 
  

Nine months ended 

 July 31, 2008 
  

Year ended 

 October 31, 2007 
  

Total pro forma adjustments recorded to decrease income before provision for 

income taxes in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated 

statements of earnings 
  

$ (756 ) $ (1,068 ) 

Estimated provision for income taxes rates applicable to pro forma adjustments 

  

33.2 % 32.9 % 

Pro forma provision for income taxes adjustment 
  

$ (251 ) $ (351 ) 

  

Note 5: Pro Forma Earnings Per Share 
  

The pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share amounts presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined 

consolidated statements of operations are based upon the weighted-average number of HP common shares outstanding and are 

adjusted for the estimated common stock dilution under the treasury stock method for EDS stock options and restricted stock units 

assumed and converted in connection with the acquisition as if those awards had been assumed and converted as they stood at the 

acquisition date as of the beginning of each period presented without consideration for any subsequent award activity such as grants, 

exercises and cancellations.  Our acquisition of EDS had no impact to the basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 

calculations for the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statements of earnings for the periods presented. 
  

    

Weighted-average common 

 shares outstanding 
  

(In  millions) 
  

Nine months ended 

 July 31, 2008 
  

Year ended 

 October 31, 2007 
  

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding, as reported 
  

2,577 
  

2,716 
  

Estimated dilutive effect of EDS stock options and restricted stock units 

assumed and converted 
  

8 
  

8 
  

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding, pro forma 
  

2,585 
  

2,724 
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